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This annual report is licensed by Wide Bay Hospital and 
Health Service under a Creative Commons Attribution 
(CC BY) 3.0 Australian licence.

CC BY Licence Summary Statement

You are free to copy, communicate and adapt 
this annual report provided attribution is given 
to Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service.

To view a copy of this licence visit: 
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/
deed.en

Attribution

Content from this annual report should be attributed as: 
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 
annual report 2016-17.

If you have an enquiry regarding this annual 
report please contact Wide Bay Hospital and 
Health Service on (07) 4150 2020.

Public availability statement

This annual report can be viewed on Wide Bay 
Hospital and Health Service's website at: 

http://www.health.qld.gov.au/widebay/documents/
annual-report-17.pdf

Hard copies of the annual report can also be obtained 
by phoning the office of  Wide Bay Hospital and Health 
Service Chief Executive on (07) 4150 2020.

Interpreter service statement

The Queensland Government is 
committed to providing accessible 
services to Queenslanders from all 
culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds. 

If you have difficulty in understanding this annual 
report, you can contact Wide Bay Hospital and Health 
Service on (07) 4150 2124 or 4122 8607 to assist in 
arranging an interpreter to communicate the report to 
you.

© State of Queensland (Wide Bay Hospital and 
Health Service) 2017.       ISSN  2202-7629 

Open data

We are committed to the Queensland Government’s 
open data strategy and have published additional 
information to form part of our 2016-2017 annual report. 
Wide Bay Hospital and Health service has published the 
following data on the government’s open data website 
(www.qld.gov.au\data ):

• Expenditure on consultancies
• Overseas travel expenditure
• Utilisation of interpreter services, under the

Queensland Language Services Policy.

Report objective

This annual report fulfils Wide Bay Hospital 
and Health Service’s reporting requirements to 
the community and to the Minister for Health and 
Minister for Ambulance Services. It summarises the 
health service’s results, performance, outlook and 
financial position for 2016-17.

The annual report also outlines the health service’s 
performance against key objectives identified in Wide 
Bay Hospital and Health Service’s strategic planning, 
and against the Queensland Government’s objectives 
for the community and frontline services.

Licence and attribution
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Acknowledgment of Traditional Owners

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service respectfully acknowledges the traditional owners and 
custodians, both past and present, of the area we service. We also declare our commitment to 
reducing inequalities between Indigenous and non-Indigenous health outcomes, in line with the 

Australian Government’s Closing the Gap initiative.

Artwork produced for Queensland Health  by Gilimbaa
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Letter of compliance

5 September 2017 

The Honourable Cameron Dick MP 
Minister for Health 
Minister for Ambulance Services 
GPO Box 48  
BRISBANE QLD 4001 

Dear Minister, 

I am pleased to submit for presentation to the Parliament the Annual Report 2016-2017 and 
financial statements for Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service.  

I certify that this Annual Report complies with: 
• The prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial  and

Performance Management Standard 2009, and
• The detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for Queensland

Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found in Appendix 1 of this Annual 
Report. 

Yours sincerely 

Peta Jamieson 
Chair 
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board 



Wide Bay Hospital & Health Service
6 Annual Report 2016-2017

THE 2016-17 financial year has been an extraordinary 
period for Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 
(WBHHS), characterised by record activity, state-leading 
delivery of waiting list targets, a financial turnaround, 
and our continuing mission to grow partnerships that 
allow as many local patients as possible to access 
treatment in their own region. 

Capping it off was confirmation from Queensland 
Health that WBHHS had been granted top-performing 
Level One status, achieving the highest possible 
ratings across components including key performance 
indicators (such as wait list times and emergency 
targets), accreditation status, service agreement delivery 
and fiscal management. This is a huge achievement, but 
does not mean we will rest on our laurels as we continue 
towards ensuring we maintain exceptional standards of 
patient care. 

Driving our performance has been our Strategic 
Plan 2014–2017, which also aligns closely with the 
Department of Health’s Strategic Objectives and 
the Queensland Government’s Objectives for the 
Community. Our five strategic pledges are:

• Delivering sustainable, patient-centred, quality 
health services

• Engaging with our communities and partners

• Developing and empowering our workforce

• Encouraging innovation and excellence

• Delivering value for money.

We talk often in terms of numbers and targets, but we 
should never forget that these translate to real outcomes 
for people. The earlier a patient is treated or seen, the 
better the health outcome or the earlier the diagnosis. 
These can be life-saving or life-changing outcomes. 

Among WBHHS’s greatest achievements this year has 
been the enormous effort put into reducing waiting times 
for local patients. By June 30, 2017, there were no 
patients waiting longer than clinically recommended for 
a specialist appointment, thanks to the relentless energy 
and dedication of the doctors, nurses, administration 
officers and managers in our Specialist Outpatients 
departments. This is the first time we have delivered this 
result and we are very proud of it. 

On the Fraser Coast, we also ended the year with no 
long waits on our Endoscopy list, which is a significant 

turnaround from previous years. We achieved this 
through a “blitz” with the help of a private provider, and 
we are now working to make the model sustainable. In 
Bundaberg, most patients have their endoscopy within 
four weeks – including Category 6 patients, whose 
target time is 12 months – while our maximum wait was 
about 12 weeks. Endoscopy wait times have been a 
strong strategic focus of the Board’s and we expect the 
demands in this area will only keep increasing, but we 
are confident we can keep meeting them to deliver this 
important diagnostic tool. 

We continue to maintain the lowest Elective Surgery 
wait times in Queensland, with no long waits in any 
category for the third consecutive year. Our longest 
elective wait sits at six months for Category 3 patients, 
which is half the statewide benchmark. 

In Oral Health, too, huge strides have been made both 
in reducing waiting times and delivering activity. Across 
Wide Bay, our Oral Health team has exceeded its 
activity target by more than 26,500 weighted occasions 
of service, which means we are both achieving higher 
productivity – with almost 10,000 appointments more 
than the previous year – and treating more complex 
cases. There are also no patients waiting beyond 19 
months for an appointment (compared to a maximum 
wait of 11 years just four years ago), and we’ve halved 
our denture waiting list over the past six months.

We continue to perform strongly on Emergency 
Department targets, with Bundaberg remaining the top-
performing hospital in the state. Maryborough Hospital 
also exceeds the statewide target, while Hervey Bay 
Hospital holds its own in the face of ongoing capacity 
challenges. 

One of the most impressive things about our 
performance in the past year is that we are delivering 
these life-changing outcomes in the face of constantly 
rising demand. In 2016-17, we delivered about 90,000 
weighted activity units, an increase of about 9.5% on 
what we delivered in 2015-16 and 6.8% above the 
activity level purchased by the Department of Health for 
the year. 

Another great growth area for WBHHS is Telehealth, 
which saves patients travel time and reduces our 
Patient Travel Subsidy Scheme (PTSS) costs. This will 
continue to be a key strategic focus for us as we look 
at how healthcare can be delivered differently in the 

Year 
in review

Year in review
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Year in reviewYear in review

face of continually increasing demand. Between 2015-
16 and 2016-17, we saw a 38% increase in Telehealth 
appointments, from 3,745 to 5,155. We also expanded 
the Telehealth model into chemotherapy services, 
allowing eligible patients to access treatment from some 
of our rural facilities. 

Safety continues to be our highest priority, both in terms 
of clinical care and occupational health and safety. 
A great deal of work has been done throughout the 
2016-17 year to prepare WBHHS to lead a national pilot 
on continuous hospital accreditation, in collaboration 
with Metro South HHS and the Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards. The trial means we are committed 
to being accreditation-ready every day, with little notice 
from assessors prior to audits – a marked difference from 
the current four-year accreditation cycle. The new system 
will launch in August 2017. 

A lot of work has also been done to review and update 
our award-winning workplace health and safety program, 
PRAISE (Positive Responsive Actions in Safety 
Excellence), to ensure it continues to meet the needs of 
our organisation as our safety journey continues. The 
program certainly remains effective in its aims to embed 
a safety culture in the workplace, with a further 20% 
year-on-year drop in work days lost to staff injury.

Capital infrastructure remains of paramount importance 
across the region, as we upgrade facilities and build 
some new ones both to meet current demand and 
anticipate those in the future. Significant projects in 2016-
17 include:

• Tangible progress on early works phase of Hervey 
Bay Hospital’s new Emergency Department, 
including helipad, car park, ambulance bays and site 
excavation

• Substantial kitchen upgrades for Childers and 
Gayndah hospitals

• Business case approval and commencement on 
design phase of Maryborough Hospital’s Emergency 
and Specialist Outpatients departments

• Land purchase and design completed for Step Up/
Step Down mental health facility in Bundaberg

• Digital upgrade to Maryborough Hospital’s Medical 
Imaging department and installation of Fluoroscopy 
at Bundaberg Hospital, as part of rolling Health 
Technology Equipment Replacement program.

Remarkably, throughout this period of milestones and 
high performance, we were able to achieve a strong 
financial turnaround, taking us from a $14.1 million 

deficit last year to a $10.7 million operating surplus in 
2016-2017. This was a collective effort achieved through 
a series of financial improvement plans, a reduction 
in the use of locum doctors, and the renegotiation of 
partnership contracts in areas such as cardiology, 
ophthalmology and radiation oncology. These contracts 
have delivered better value for money while still enabling 
patients to access the highest-quality specialist care 
within their own region. 

Needless to say, none of the above could have been 
achieved without the unwavering passion and effort of 
our employees, from clinicians and health professionals 
through to administrative and operational officers. On 
behalf of the Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board and 
the Executive, we would once again like to thank them 
for being part of our story of continuous improvement in 
the past few years, and particularly in 2016-17.

There is still much to achieve. In 2017-18, we are excited 
about the development of our next Strategic Plan to 
guide us as we keep advancing on our improvement 
journey. We are intent on pursuing even better outcomes 
for our patients, particularly on waiting times and 
improved access to high-quality, cost-effective local 
specialist services. We would like to thank our external 
partners for helping us to provide these services and we 
look forward to growing these partnerships in the coming 
years. 

We would also like to thank our community for providing 
us with valuable consultation and insight, whether 
through our Community Reference Groups or through 
our formal or informal communication channels. You are 
the reason we come to work each day, as we strive to 
provide a higher-quality service for you all the time. 

Peta Jamieson 
Chair  
Wide Bay Hospital  
and Health Board

Adrian Pennington 
Chief Executive 
Wide Bay Hospital  
and Health Service
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Activity snapshot
978,649 patient contacts 0.7%

115,803  emergency presentations 0.1%

406,548 outpatient appointments 1 3.9%

14,458 operations performed 2.9%

5,155  Telehealth appointments 37.7%

30,861 cancer care appointments 11.5%

1,679 elective ophthalmology  procedures 2 20.5%

89,059 dental visits 11.9%

63,891 mental health patient contacts 2.3%

46,216 allied health outpatient services 3 34.5%

Notes:
1 IHPA Tier 2 outpatient activity (including Radiology) + Pharmacy
2 Measure changed to hospital admitted procedures only; excludes procedures undertaken in Ophthalmologist rooms as outpatient
3  Allied health reported for first time; 2016-17 includes Psychology in Mental Health setting, which was not included in 2015-16.
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Renewal of partnerships in cardiology, ophthalmology and radiation oncology, 
allowing thousands of public patients to access cost-effective local treatment

Achievement of all Specialist Outpatient wait list targets, with no 
patient now waiting longer than clinically recommended

Achievement of all Endoscopy wait list targets, with no 
patient waiting longer than clinically recommended

Maintenance of the lowest Elective Surgery wait times in 
Queensland, with all waits less than  six months

Commencement on construction of the new Hervey Bay Hospital 
 Emergency Department and associated facilities

Successful development of business case for new Maryborough  
Hospital Emergency and Specialist Outpatient departments

Development of the Mental Health, Alcohol and Other Drugs Strategic 
Collaborative with PHN to identify service gaps and prioritise resources

Commencement on design for new Step Up/Step Down 
Mental Health facility in Bundaberg

Exceeding Oral Health activity target by 26,000 occasions of service, 
and reducing denture waiting list by more than half

Delivery of chemotherapy Telehealth program, allowing eligible 
patients to be treated in rural facilities

Successful implementation of Financial Improvement Program to move       
from operating deficit in 2015-16 to operating surplus in 2016-17

Consistent reduction in rates of Discharge Against Medical 
Advice for Indigenous patients

Key achievements
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Financial summary

Medicine
$88,979,950

16%

Surgery
$93,744,549

17%

Critical Care
$112,219,004

20%
Family and Community

$70,189,580
12%

Operational Services
$55,915,252

10%

Acute Other
$43,423,364

8%

Mental Health
$35,538,840

6%

Professional and Support
$62,601,312

11%

WBHHS in numbers

$573.4M
   WBHHS’s total revenue in 2016-17

$391M
   Employee costs in 2016-17

$1.5M
   Cost per day to run WBHHS

$269.9M
   WBHHS’s total assets

$4,693
   Cost per Weighted Activity Unit 
(  (Qld efficient price $4,755)

2016-17 in Review
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service ended the 
financial year with a surplus of $10.7 million, which 
equates to 1.9% of its operating revenue of $573.4 
million.

This is a significant improvement from the 2015-16 
deficit of $14.1 million. Given this position, the surplus 
has been necessarily directed to repay the accumulated 
deficit, now leaving WBHHS with an accumulated deficit 
of just $3.1 million.

Activity continues to exceed purchased levels, with 
overall activity being 6.8% above what we were 
contracted by the Department of Health to provide in 
2016-17 and 9.5% above activity delivered in 2015-16.

2017-18: An outlook
With access to Commonwealth Growth funding 
capped in 2017-18, additional pressure will be placed 
on minimising growth in activity while maintaining or 
improving access to services. 

WBHHS has already implemented significant financial 
improvement plans that will start to reap benefits in 
2017-18, including improved value for money in clinical 
services sourced from the private sector, improved 
procurement outcomes in areas such as prosthetics, 
better WorkCover performance and improvements in 
rostering staff to better match activity demands. 

Financial sustainability remains a key strategic risk 
to WBHHS, given tightening financial pressures 
nationwide. We will need to continuously deliver 
productivity and efficiency improvements to meet 
increasing demand for services without compromising 
safety and quality.
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Where the money goes
(by service type)

Where the money goes
(by division)

Queensland Government
$358,166,017

62%

Commonwealth 
Contributions
$169,053,328

30%

Other User Fees
$36,949,682

6%

Other Revenue and 
Grants

$9,218,469
2%

Where the money 
comes from

Where the money goes
(by expense type)

Employee Expenses
$391,002,890

69%

Supplies and Services
$155,060,443

28%

Depreciation
$14,864,098

3%

Other
$1,684,419

0%

ABF
$410,284,649

73%

Block Funded
$34,402,914

6%

Community Health
$28,876,317

5%

Patient Travel/Transport
$20,141,807

3%

Community Mental Health
$21,284,074

4%

Oral Health
$20,349,912

4%

Depreciation
$14,864,098

3%

Other
$12,408,078

2%Medicine
$88,979,950

16%

Surgery
$93,744,549

17%

Critical Care
$112,219,004

20%
Family and Community

$70,189,580
12%

Operational Services
$55,915,252

10%

Acute Other
$43,423,364

8%

Mental Health
$35,538,840

6%

Professional and Support
$62,601,312

11%

5%

Other User Fees 
$36.9m

6%

Other Revenue 
and Grants 

$92.1m

2%

Commonwealth 
Contributions 

$169m

30%

Queensland Government 
$358.1m

62%

Depreciation 
$14.9m

3%

Other 
$1.7m 

0%

Supplies and 
Services 
$155m

28%

Employee Expenses 
$391m

69%

Professional and Support 
$62.6m

11%
Mental Health 

$35.5m

6%

Acute Other 
$43.4m

8%
Operational Services 

$55.9m

10%

Family and Community 
$70.2m

12%

Medicine 
$89m

16%

Surgery 
$93.7m

17%

Critical Care 
$112.2m

20%

Oral Health 
$20.3m

Community Mental Health 
$21.3m

4%

Patient Travel/Transport 
$20.1m

4%

3%

Community 
Health 
$28.9m

Block Funded 
$34.4m

Depreciation 
$14,864,098

6%

3%
Other 

$12.4m

2%

Activity-Based 
Funding 
$410.3m

73%
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Our
organisation

Established on 1 July 2012, Wide Bay Hospital and 
Health Service (WBHHS) is an independent statutory 
body governed by the Wide Bay Hospital and Health 
Board (the Board), which reports to the Minister for 
Health and Minister for Ambulance Services. 

WBHHS’s responsibilities are set out in legislation 
through the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, 
Hospital and Health Boards Regulations 2012, Financial 
Accountability Act 2009 and subordinate legislation.

WBHHS delivers quality, patient and family-focused 
health services that reflect the needs of the Wide Bay 
community, which includes the geographical areas of 
the Bundaberg, Fraser Coast and North Burnett local 
government areas, and part of Gladstone Regional 
Council (Miriam Vale).

WBHHS delivers public hospital and health services 
under a service agreement with the Department of 
Health. This agreement identifies the minimum services 
to be provided, performance indicators and key targets.  

Our vision
Our vision is “Improving health, together”.  

As set out in our Strategic Plan 2014–2017, we aim to 
achieve this vision through the following pledges:

Our purpose 
Our purpose is to be a provider of patient-centred, 
high-quality, innovative and cost-effective health care by 
engaging with our community and developing our highly 
skilled workforce. 

Our strategic direction 
The Board sets the strategic priorities through the 
WBHHS Strategic Plan, which outlines how we will meet 
the needs of our communities over the duration of the 
plan. It also outlines how we support the Queensland 
Government’s Objectives for the Community to deliver 
quality frontline services that strengthen the public health 
system, and its healthcare priorities to provide patient-
centred care.

Our performance against the Strategic Plan and 
Queensland Government objectives can be found on 
page 16. 
 

Our challenges
WBHHS is continuing to deliver performance 
improvements while providing sustainable patient-
centred, high-quality and safe healthcare services. We 
operate in a complex and challenging environment 
and, similar to other health services in Australia and 
internationally, balancing efficient service delivery with 
high-quality health outcomes to ensure that healthcare 
expenditure achieves value for our communities is a 
constant challenge.

Ongoing challenges in the delivery of healthcare services 
to our communities include:

• Service demand and capacity – the demand 
for public healthcare services is increasing and 
the impact of population growth, demographics, 
increased life expectancy and growing burden of 
disease places significant pressure on our services

• Workforce – recruiting and retaining highly qualified 
staff in rural and regional areas is an ongoing 
challenge that the service continues to manage

• Financial pressures – while the health service 
performed efficiently this year, there are ever-
increasing service demand pressures that impact on 
the delivery of a balanced budget

• Operating environment – the delivery of health 
services in an environment in which there are 
competing priorities between public policy, 
planning, regulatory frameworks and our 
community’s expectations. Adaptability to change 
has been critical, along with managing community 
expectations of the services that we can provide.

Engaging with our communities and partners

Encouraging innovation and excellence

Delivering sustainable, patient centred, 
quality health services

Developing and empowering our workforce

Delivering value for money

2

4

1

3

5

Our organisation
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Our organisation

• Outdated infrastructure – the service has a number 
of aged buildings and facilities that limit capacity to 
introduce new and advanced service models and 
technologies.

In addition, a unique challenge for WBHHS is the 
complexity of providing services from three major 
hospitals. Demand for a full range of services to be 
provided at each major hospital impacts on our ability to 
provide efficient services.

Our values
We have adopted the Queensland public service values to guide our behaviour. These values are:

Customers First

In 2016-17, our Oral Health team delivered more 
than 10,000 more appointments to public dental 
patients than the previous year, halving the 
denture waiting list in the meantime.

Ideas into action

In November 2016, Monto Hospital became the 
first WBHHS rural facility to make chemotherapy 
available to patients using a Telehealth model. 

Unleash potential

WBHHS has partnered with CQUniversity to 
employ undergraduate nurses to their full 
scope of practice and develop them into skilled 
Registered Nurses. 

Be courageous

In the wake of Tropical Cyclone Debbie in March 
2017, WBHHS Senior Psychologist Daniel Banos 
and Resident Medical Officer Dr Anna Hunt 
volunteered their clinical services to help the 
affected communities. 

Empower people

WBHHS delivered Business Skills for Health 
Professionals training to 300 leaders and future 
leaders in 2016 and 2017. 
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Our organisation

WBHHS serves a population of about 210,000 people over a 
geographical area of approximately 37,000 square kilometres. 

Demographically, it is a high-needs area given its comparatively 
low socio-economic status and high proportion of elderly 
people. The region is also growing relatively quickly. In the past 
10 years, the Fraser Coast region has grown by 19% and the 
Bundaberg region has grown by 11%. 

Other key demographic details for the Wide Bay region include: 

• Population projected to increase to more than 260,000 by 
2036

• High numbers of elderly residents – 23% of our total 
population are aged over 65 years (compared to 13% for 
Queensland), which is the highest for any HHS in Queensland

• Lowest proportion of people aged between 20 and 44 years in 
Queensland 

• 82% of our residents fall in the two most disadvantaged 
socio-economic quintiles in Queensland

• 4.7% of the  population is Indigenous (compared to 4% for 
Queensland), with the North Burnett having the highest rate 

at 6% 

• 8.7% of the population is in “need of assistance” with a 
core activity as a result of a profound or severe disability 
(compared to 5.2% for Queensland)

• The median total personal income was $24,856, with 35% 
of the population having an income of less than $20,800 
(compared to $34,320 median total personal income for 
Queensland) 

• 41.3% list their highest level of schooling as Year 11 or 12 
(compared to 58.9% for Queensland) 

• The unemployment rate as at the March quarter 2017 was 
9.5% (compared to 6.2% for Queensland) 

• 23.6% of families in which no parent is working (compared to 
13.5% for Queensland).

 

References 
1. Australian Bureau of Statistics – Regional Population Growth Australia 2014-15 

(latest issue released March 2017)
2. Queensland Treasury and Trade – Queensland Regional Profiles, Wide Bay (as 

at July 2017)
3. Central Queensland, Wide Bay, Sunshine Coast PHN Health Needs Assessment 

2015-16

Key demographics

WBHHS provides acute inpatient, outpatient, mental health, 
oral health and a range of specialist, community and outreach 
services. 

We also partner with various external organisations to 
supplement and support specialist services to the Wide Bay 
community. This helps our patients to be seen cost-effectively 
and within clinically recommended timeframes, which improves 

their health outcomes. 

Overwhelmingly, our contracts with external providers have 
enabled WBHHS to provide local services for local people, 
reducing or removing their need to travel outside the region. 
Our partnerships to deliver specialist services include radiation 
oncology; ear, nose and throat surgery; cataract surgery; and 
cardiac angiography. 

Our services

Wide Bay Hospital & Health Service

Acute pain management Alcohol and other drug services Allied Health Anaesthetics

BreastScreen Cancer care Cardiology Colorectal surgery

Community Health Community Hospital Interface 
Program, Hospital in the Home Coronary care Emergency medicine

Ear, Nose and Throat surgery Gastroenterology General medicine General surgery

Gerontology Gynaecology Indigenous health services Intensive Care

Internal medicine Medical Imaging including 
computer tomography Medical Oncology Mental Health services 

Obstetrics Offender health Oncology / palliative care Ophthalmology

Oral health and oral surgery Orthopaedics Paediatrics Pathology

Pharmacy Public Health Radiation Therapy Rehabilitation

Renal dialysis School Health Sexual Health Specialist Outpatients

Transition Care Program Urology Women’s and Children’s Health  
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WBHHS service area
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Strategic objectives and 
performance indicators
WBHHS’s guiding document has been the Strategic Plan 
2014–2017, which sets out the vision for how we work to 
improve the health and wellbeing of our community. The 
Strategic Plan also aligns closely with:

• My Health, Queensland’s future: Advancing health 
2026, the Queensland Government’s 10-year health 
strategic plan

• The Queensland Government Objectives for the 
Community

• The Queensland Government public service values 
(see page 13). 

In 2016-17, we have continued to achieve goals set out 
in the current Strategic Plan, giving us a strong position 
from which to develop our next Strategic Plan in the 
coming 12 months. 

WBHHS Strategic Pledge 1:  
Delivering sustainable, patient-centred,  

quality health services
 
WBHHS has increased productivity and reduced waiting 
times, while continuing to improve access to local, 
high-quality care and invest in important infrastructure 
upgrades. Achievements include:

• Meeting all targets for Specialist Outpatients, 
with no patient waiting longer than the clinically 
recommended timeframe

• Meeting all targets for Endoscopy, with no patient 
waiting longer than the clinically recommended 
timeframe

• Meeting all targets for Elective Surgery for third 
consecutive year, with Category 3 patients being 
seen with six months (half the Queensland 
benchmark)

• Exceeding the Oral Health activity target by more 
than 26,000 weighted occasions of service and 
delivering almost 10,000 more patient appointments 
than in 2015-16

• Further reduction of general dental waiting lists to 
a maximum wait of 19 months, and halving denture 
waiting lists. 

• One of only three HHSs to meet the Oral Health 
smoking cessation target every month 

• Implementation of four Nurse Navigator roles 
throughout Wide Bay with a focus on chronic 
disease management 

• Implementation of Nurse Ratios in general medical 
and surgical wards at Bundaberg and Hervey Bay 
hospitals, as per the criteria for prescribed wards

• Improvements in clinical management such as a 
formalised stroke thrombolysis service across the 
HHS

• Expansion of allied health and chronic disease 
services throughout rural areas

• Successful implementation of RiskMan integrated 
incident reporting system

• Reduction in rates of Indigenous Discharge Against 
Medical Advice, down from 2.4% in 2015-16 to 1.9% 
in 2016-17 (statewide target is 1% or less)

• Strengthened Chronic Disease model of care in rural 
facilities to improve the management of clients with 
chronic conditions

• Significant progress on construction of Hervey Bay 
Hospital’s new Emergency Department

• Business case approval and commencement on 
design phase of Maryborough Hospital’s Emergency, 
Specialist Outpatients departments and main 
reception

• Land purchase and design completed for Step Up/
Step Down mental health facility in Bundaberg

• Completion of water supply upgrade, including 
emergency water supply, at Hervey Bay Hospital

• Digital x-ray upgrade to Maryborough Hospital’s 
Medical Imaging department, meaning better 
diagnostics, lower radiation doses and faster 
turnaround times

• Appointment of an Independent Patient Rights 
Advisor in alignment with the new Mental Health Act 
2016

• Redevelopment of Community Mental Health Space 
at Hervey Bay

Our
performance

Strategic objectives and 
performance indicators

Queensland Government Objective for the Community: 
Delivering quality frontline services

Our performance
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• Appointment of TRAIC (Tackling Regional Adversity 
through Integrated Care) position in Mental Health, 
focusing on building resilience in rural and disaster-
affected areas

• Commencement of Health Service Planning study to 
identify resource and infrastructure priorities for next 
10-20 years

 

WBHHS Strategic Pledge 2: 
Engaging with our communities and partners

WBHHS has engaged with partners in health, 
government, education and the community to further its 
aims of improving the health and wellbeing of the region 
it serves. Achievements include: 

• Development of a strategic Mental Health 
collaborative with the Primary Health Network and 
other NGOs to identify service gaps and address 
high rates of suicide and depression

• Release of second annual Quality of Care Report, 
showing improvement on most quality indicators

• Re-appointment of chairs to revitalised Community 
Reference Groups, which meet bi-monthly and 
report back to the Board 

• Circulation of fortnightly internal Wide Bay Wave 
magazine to internal and external stakeholders

• Increased social media presence and following, 
including media, marketing and recruitment 
promotions on Facebook and LinkedIn

• Release of video diary with a WBHHS breast cancer 
patient as part of Breast Cancer Awareness Month

• Involvement in high school engagement programs 
and job expos with a view to growing and retaining a 
local workforce 

• Corporate team involvement in the Cancer Council 
Queensland’s annual Relay for Life, raising money 
to support cancer patients and survivors

• Collaboration with community groups and 
volunteers to celebrate Maryborough Hospital’s 
130th anniversary with a family fun day and 
commemoration ceremony, attracting more than 600 
visitors

• Networking and building relationships with external 

Indigenous health agencies to enable better joint 
Indigenous health planning and identification of 
service gaps

• Launch of WBHHS Statement of Commitment to 
Reconciliation

• Collaboration between the Wide Bay Public Health 
Unit, local councils and sporting groups to promote 
and enforce new smoking laws.

WBHHS Strategic Pledge 3: 
Developing and empowering our workforce

WBHHS is constantly working to improve the employee 
experience, from graduate training and recruitment 
through to innovative training delivery and enhancing 
career pathways. Achievements include: 

• Creation of a framework in partnership with 
CQUniversity for employing undergraduate student 
nurses to their full scope of practice as they develop 
into skilled Registered Nurses

• Development of a succession planning model, with 
grant support from the Office of the Chief Nursing 
and Midwifery Officer, to develop Clinical Nurses 
into future Nurse Unit Managers and Midwifery Unit 
Managers and support NUMs and MUMs in their 
roles

• Successful implementation of TrainStation learning 
management system, leading to 44% increase in 
workplace education attendance and 25% increase 
in online learning module completions

• Completion of Business Skills for Health 
Professionals training for 300 leaders and future 
leaders

• Support for senior staff to develop their leadership 
potential through courses such as the Department 
of Health’s Emerging Clinical Leaders and Next 
Generation programs

• Development of four new training modules in line 
with a Certificate IV in Leadership and Management

• Comprehensive training for Clinical and Registered 
Nurses in Tele-Chemo delivery, allowing them to 
provide supervised chemotherapy for eligible rural 
patients

• Training for social workers across WBHHS to 

Queensland Government Objective for the Community: 
Building safe, caring and connected communities

Queensland Government Objective for the Community: 
Creating jobs and a diverse economy
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support staff when exposed to domestic and family 
violence, as part of statewide project rollout

• Expansion of internal awards and recognition 
program 

• Achieved college accreditation for registrars 
including anaesthetics, physician training, 
paediatrics, general surgeons, emergency medicine, 
and obstetrics and gynaecology

• Achieved accreditation for the Bundaberg Intensive 
Care Unit’s entry into QUT NS32 Graduate 
Certificate and NS85 Masters degree Intensive Care 
Nursing major courses.

WBHHS Strategic Pledge 4: 
Encouraging Innovation and Excellence 

WBHHS teams have collaborated with each other and 
external stakeholders to constantly innovate, leading 
to better patient care, efficiency and safety outcomes. 
Achievements include: 

• Expansion of Telehealth services, including rural 
chemotherapy support

• Establishment of Minor Operations room at 
Bundaberg Hospital to stop minor procedures going 
through major theatres, increasing efficiency and 
reducing costs

• Embarking on a research project with The University 
of Queensland and Primary Health Network on the 
National Mental Health Planning Framework and its 
implications for service development

• Implementation of electronic medical records across 
WBHHS’s Mental Health service

• Re-alignment of education and training delivery to 
offer more in situ and blended learning opportunities, 
reducing classroom-based learning attendance by 
43%

• Creation of pure water icy poles, in partnership with 

a supplier, to provide patients with a safer alternative 
to edible ice – now being ordered by other HHSs

• Development of a new Personal Protective 
Equipment wall storage unit, in partnership with a 
supplier, to improve safety, efficiency and infection 
control in wards – now being ordered by other 
HHSs.

WBHHS Strategic Pledge 5: 
Delivering value for money

WBHHS has examined all aspects of its operations to 
find ways to sustainably operate more efficiently while 
maintaining the same excellent standards of care. 
Achievements include: 

• Renegotiation of public/private partnership contracts 
for cardiology, ophthalmology and radiation oncology 
to deliver better value for money while maintaining 
local access to high-quality care 

• Improvement in procurement processes for items 
such as medical consumables and prosthetics

• Improvements in rostering practices to better match 
resources to demand

• Provision of business skills and cost centre 
management education to 300 leaders and future 
leaders

• Appointment of a rural clinical coder, improving 
coding accuracy 

• Continued reduction in WorkCover premiums and 
common law claims to an all-time low through 
heightened safety focus

• Increased use and promotion of Telehealth, saving 
Patient Travel Subside Scheme costs

• Medical vacancies lowered to 5%, reducing locum 
expenses.
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Service Delivery Performance Statement 2016-17

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service Notes
2016-17 

Target/Est.
2016-17 
Actual

Service standards  
Effectiveness measures  
Percentage of patients attending emergency departments seen within 
recommended timeframes:

• Category 1 (within 2 minutes) 100% 100%

• Category 2 (within 10 minutes) 80% 82%

• Category 3 (within 30 minutes) 75% 74%

• Category 4 (within 60 minutes) 70% 70%

• Category 5 (within 120 minutes) 70% 86%

All categories 1 .. 74%

Percentage of emergency department attendances who depart within 4 
hours of their arrival in the department

>80% 78%

Percentage of elective surgery patients treated within clinically 
recommended times: 

• Category 1 (30 days) >98% 100%

• Category 2 (90 days) >95% 100%

• Category 3 (365 days) >95% 100%

Rate of healthcare associated Staphylococcus aureus (including MRSA) 
bloodstream (SAB) infections/10,000 acute public hospital patient days

<2.0 0.53

Rate of community follow-up within 1-7 days following discharge from an 
acute mental health inpatient unit

2 >65% 72%

Proportion of readmissions to an acute mental health inpatient unit within 
28 days of discharge

3 <12% 10.8%

Percentage of specialist outpatients waiting within clinically recommended 
times:

4

• Category 1 (30 days) 98% 100%

• Category 2 (90 days) 95% 100%

• Category 3 (365 days) 95% 100%

Percentage of specialist outpatients seen within clinically recommended 
times:

5

• Category 1 (30 days) >95% 99%

• Category 2 (90 days) >80% 94%

• Category 3 (365 days) >80% 97%

Median wait time for treatment in emergency departments (minutes) 20 20
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Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service Notes
2016-17 

Target/Est.
2016-17 
Actual

Median wait time for elective surgery (days) 25 33

Efficiency measure 

Average cost per weighted activity unit for Activity Based Funding facilities $4,926 $4,693

Other measures 

Number of elective surgery patients treated within clinically recommended 
times

• Category 1 (30 days) New measure 1,879

• Category 2 (90 days) New measure 1,675

• Category 3 (365 days) New measure 1,219

Number of Telehealth outpatient occasions of service events New measure 5,340

Total weighted activity units (WAU):

Acute Inpatient 46,578 54,263

Outpatients 12,743 10,949

Sub-acute 6 5,542 7,411

Emergency Department 12,164 14,559

Mental Health 3,455 4,300

Prevention and Primary Care 7 3,310 4,440

Ambulatory mental health service contact duration (hours) >34,523 33,946

Notes:

1 A Target/Estimate for percentage of emergency department patients seen within 
recommended timeframes is not included in the ‘All Categories’ as there is no national 
benchmark. 

2 The actuals for 2016-17 are for the period 1 July 2016 to 31 May 2017. 

3 The actuals for 2016-17 are for the period 1 July 2016 to 30 April 2017. 

4 This is a measure of effectiveness that shows the percentage of patients who 
are waiting to have their first appointment (from the time of referral) with the health 
professional in an outpatient clinic, within the clinically recommended time.

5 This is a measure of effectiveness that indicates the percentage of patients seen 
within clinically recommended times during the reporting period. Data source: Wide 
Bay HHS Performance report, System Performance Reporting, as at the end of June 
2017.

6 Includes SNAP Audit full year estimate of 303, yet to be coded/submitted.

7 Total WAU – Prevention and Primary Care is a new measure for the 2016-2017 
Service Delivery Statement, and is comprised of Breast Screen and Dental activity.
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Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service
2015-16 
Actual

2016-17 
Actual

Emergency presentations 115,743 115,803

Total operations performed 14,047 14,458

Elective procedures 9,842 10,013

Emergency procedures 4,205 4,445

Outpatient occasions of service 391,127 406,548

Patients admitted to hospital 76,901 78,544

Patient contacts 971,371 978,649

Mental health consumer contacts 62,454 63,891

Births 1,964 1,842

Telehealth occasions of service 3,745 5,155
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Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service has clearly set 
out its workforce planning objectives in its Strategic Plan 
2014–2017, whose vision is “Improving health, together”.

We recognise that having engaged, motivated and 
educated employees is the key to delivering high-quality, 
patient-centred and sustainable healthcare. Our key 
objectives are to:

• Create a high-performing workplace culture that 
supports positive and respectful behaviours, 
accountability and great customer service 

• Become a centre of excellence for learning and 
development to ensure our staff are both capable 
and competent to meet service needs 

• Develop and implement new workforce models to 
sustainably improve patient access and quality of 
care. 

As required by the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, the 
Code of Conduct in Queensland Public Service has 
been in place since 2011 and applies to all health service 
employees.

Our workforce at a glance

Workforce Snapshot

   
 
 
 

3,616 
staff

 
 
 
 

412 
New employees 

in 2016-17

 

 
 

66% 
of employees 
are in clinical 

roles

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service’s workforce 
is made up of 3,616 employees who, through their 
many and varied roles, all contribute to our journey of 
consistent improvement.

MOHRI
Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information 
(MOHRI) Occupied Headcount represents the number 
of people actively employed and includes staff on 
leave.  In 2017, WBHHS increased its MOHRI Occupied 
Headcount by 65 employees.  The medical and nursing 
streams both increased by 2%.

MOHRI Occupied FTE represents current full-time 
equivalent positions and excludes leave.

Stream Total %

Managerial and Clerical 593.5 16.4

Medical incl VMOs 399.5 11

Nursing 1,640 45.3

Operational 622 17.2

Trade and Artisans 14 0.4

Professional and Technical 347 9.6

Total 3,616 100

Table 1: MOHRI Occupied Headcount by Stream as at June 2017

 

Stream Total %

Managerial and Clerical 515.6 17.3

Medical incl VMOs 377.2 12.6

Nursing 1,259.2 42.2

Operational 507.2 17

Trade and Artisans 14 0.5

Professional and Technical 313.5 10.5

Total 2,987.4 100

Table 2: MOHRI Occupied FTE by Stream as at June 2017

 
The percentage difference by professional stream 
between MOHRI headcount and occupied FTE is 
minimal, and any variation is generally explained by the 
dispersion of full-time roles into one or more part-time 
roles and the inclusion of staff on leave.

Our people



Wide Bay Hospital & Health Service
23Annual Report 2016-2017

Our people

Separations
In 2016-2017, 555 staff separated employment from 
WBHHS.  Of this figure, 19% were from the medical 
stream and 35% were from nursing.  Overall, the 
turnover represented 15.3% of total staff. 

No redundancy, retrenchment or early retirement 
packages were paid during the period. 

 
Stream Separations %

Managerial and Clerical 81 14.6

Medical incl VMOs 107 19.3

Nursing 197 35.5

Operational 87 15.7

Trade and Artisans 0 0

Professional and Technical 83 14.9

Total 555 100

Table 3: Separations by Stream as at June 2017

Staff profile
A typical WBHHS employee is 56 years old and female.

Our youngest staff member is a male aged 17 and our 
oldest employees are a male and female both aged 76.  
Overall, WBHHS employs 2,765 women and 851 men.  

Age Female Male Total

Under 20 years 12 3 15

20-29 years 380 145 525

30-39 years 495 204 699

40-49 years 720 196 916

50-59 years 794 206 1000

60-69 years 351 91 442

70-79 years 13 6 19

Total 2765 851 3616

Table 4: Gender and Age Profile as at June 2017

Women in the workforce
Women comprise 76% of the WBHHS workforce, with 
women also filling 50% of the executive management 
positions and five of the nine Board positions.

Profession 2015 2016 2017

Managerial and Clerical 502.7 509.1 524.5

Medical incl VMOs 121 137.75 137

Nursing 1409.5 1424.3 1444

Operational 385.6 407.1 422

Professional and 
Technical

244 237 247

Total 2663 2716 2765

Table 5: Women in the workforce by Stream as at June 2017

 

An equal opportunities employer
WBHHS values cultural diversity, particularly the 
importance of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
culture in the community.

As at June 2017, WBHHS employed 48 people who 
identified as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander, which 
equates to 1.44%. This figure is lower than the Public 
Service Commission target of 2.4%, but it is an increase 
on WBHHS’s 2015-16 figure of 1.13%.

WBHHS has worked hard throughout the year to 
emphasise the importance of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander culture to our health service by 
strongly promoting internal events such as National 
Reconciliation Week and NAIDOC Week. Our Indigenous 
employees and health workers have played leading roles 
in these events.

In 2017, WBHHS also launched its Statement of 
Commitment to Reconciliation across all its facilities, as 
well as a series of plaques reinforcing its recognition of 
Indigenous language and culture. 

As at June 2017, WBHHS also employed 340 employees 
from a non-English speaking background, which equates 
to 9.43%, and 79 employees with a disability, which 
equates to 2.19%.

 

Work-life balance
WBHHS continues to promote strategies to help its 
employees balance work and life demands.  Flexible 
working arrangements and part-time employment 
continue to be an attractive option for all Wide Bay 
employees.

Further policies relating to job-sharing arrangements, 
work and family considerations, family violence 
leave, sporting leave, special leave, extra leave for 
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proportionate salary, long-service leave on half pay and 
cultural leave are available. Leave assistance is also 
available for study or research requirements. 

WBHHS is also pro-active in the promotion of staff 
wellness and healthy lifestyles, with internal gym and 
pool facilities available to employees. 

 

Employees
MOHRI Occupied 

Headcount
% of Workforce

Permanent Full Time 1568.7 43.4

Permanent Part Time 1129.6 31.2

Temporary Full Time 386.8 10.6

Temporary Part Time 301.2 8.3

Casual 229.7 6.3

Total 3616.04 100%

Table 6: Employee Status (MOHRI Occupied Headcount) as at June 2017

 

Occupational Health and Safety 
WBHHS has made further substantial steps in its safety 
improvement journey, continuing the excellent trend set 
by the initial implementation of the PRAISE (Positive 
Responsive Actions in Safety Excellence) program.  

In 2016-17, WBHHS delivered its safest year on 
record due to its increased focus on health and safety 
in the workplace and injury prevention strategies.  
Achievements included a 28.5% reduction in our 
frequency rate for lost time injuries, a 20% reduction in 
the total number of lost days per injury (from 2,876 down 
to 2,302) and a 64% reduction in the average cost per 
injury claim.  

These improvements helped WBHHS reduce its 
overall annual WorkCover premium rate by 8%, which 
represents a substantial saving to the organisation.  

The PRAISE program has continued to support our 
improvements and has now been delivered to 1,156 of 
our staff and leaders.  In May 2017, WBHHS undertook 
a full review of the content and delivery of PRAISE to 
ensure we continue to gain the value from the program in 
improving our safety culture.  The new-look PRAISE will 
be rolled out early in 2017-18 for staff and leaders.

In 2017-18, the WBHHS strategy will focus on 
embedding our safety culture improvements as we work 
to deliver safe, high-quality care without harm to our 
patients, staff or visitors.  This will be achieved through 
key objectives that will focus on improving risk and 
hazard identification and control, improving patient and 

manual handling compliance, increasing accountability 
and strengthened leadership commitment.

The journey of continual improvement is neverending 
and WBHHS will continue to integrate Occupational 
Health and Safety as part of everything we do.  

 

Workforce development
WBHHS recognises that our employees are the 
beating heart of our organisation. Through encouraging 
innovation, employee empowerment and development 
through learning, we oversee a range of programs that 
help our staff to upskill, forge strong career paths and be 
part of a cohesive and positive workforce culture. 

We also encourage recognition of staff members’ 
contributions to their workplace and their community, 
through programs such as our annual internal Australia 
Day Awards and other external awards as appropriate.

Education and Training
Workplace-Based Assessment Program
Wide Bay remains the only Queensland Hospital and 
Health Service to deliver the Australian Medical Council’s 
(AMC) innovative Workplace-Based Assessment 
program (WBA).

This program is a hospital-based alternative to the AMC 
Part 2 Clinical Exam, which is one of the pre-requisites 
for International Medical Graduates to gain general 
registration from the Australian Health Practitioner 
Regulation Agency (AHPRA). Once they have gained 
general registration, the graduate can practice as a 
doctor without supervision.

There are only two pathways by which an overseas-
trained doctor can gain general registration in Australia. 
The first and long-standing path is the AMC Part 2 exam. 
This exam uses role players as patients in simulated 
clinical scenarios, with a current pass rate of just 20%. 
The second, newer path is the WBA – a more true-to-
life, continuous assessment of the candidate and their 
abilities in the Australian healthcare setting, with a pass 
rate of more than 90%. 

The 18th Hervey Bay Hospital Resident Medical Officer 
(RMO) has just completed the 12-month program. 
Another 12 RMOs are currently working their way 
through the program, with a further 10 staff on the waiting 
list.

The Medical Education Unit at Hervey Bay Hospital 
receives a continuous stream of phone calls and emails 
from doctors in Australia keen to join the program. This 
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interest has allowed medical recruiting staff to identify 
potential RMOs for a selection interview from a large 
pool of candidates; improving not only the quality of 
candidate for employment in the health service but also 
the quality of care provided to our patients. The program 
also helps build our staff retention because participants 
have the chance to live and work in our community for an 
extended period. 

The keystone of the program remains the hard-working 
consultants who donate their time as assessors for the 
clinical patient-oriented Case Based Discussions and 
Mini-Clinical Examinations that are the basis of the 
WBA. Without their support and input, and the valuable 
contribution of our patients, the WBA would not be the 
highly successful and sought-after program that it has 
become.

 
Medical graduate program
Twenty-eight Medical Graduates joined WBHHS as 
interns in 2016-17. During this first year of practice, they 
are provided with close supervision, education, training 
on the job and professional assessment.

Twenty of these interns joined Bundaberg Hospital and 
eight took up positions in Hervey Bay.  The numbers 
were influenced by a significant fall in allocations of 
Commonwealth-funded Interns.  Bundaberg Hospital was 
joined by two interns who had been unable to complete 
their internships in Egypt in 2013 during the “Arab 
Spring”.  They will go through a full Australian internship 
aiming for medical registration in 2018.

The numbers staying on in Wide Bay for their second 
post-graduate year is steadily increasing, which is a vote 
of confidence in the hospitals and their programs.  Half 
of the 2016 interns stayed on to work as RMOs in 2017.  
The interns starting in 2017 have been given two-year 
contracts, so the majority of them will likely opt to stay 
on.

WBHHS has an affiliation with James Cook University 
and The University of Queensland, which has Rural 
Clinical Schools both in Bundaberg and Hervey Bay. 
WBHHS hosts third- and fourth-year medical students 
for an academic year, completing rotations throughout 
various departments. The majority of these students 
return to a Wide Bay hospital for their internship.

Wide Bay has the largest number of Rural Generalist 
trainees per capita of any Queensland Hospital 
and Health Service. These doctors complete a core 
curriculum of training, beginning in their intern year, 
which qualifies them to work independently in rural 
health facilities around Queensland from their third 
post-graduate year.  Most also complete their Fellowship 
of the Australian College of Rural & Remote Medicine, 
a credential that takes a total of four rigorous years of 

training after internship, but equips them to work in even 
the most remote parts of the world.

WBHHS also hosts medical graduates undertaking 
specialist training programs from specialist colleges. 
These include:

• Australasian College of Emergency Medicine

• Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Obstetricians and Gynaecologists

• Royal Australasian College of Physicians

• Australian & New Zealand College of Anaesthetists

• College of Intensive Care Medicine of Australia & 
New Zealand

• Certificate/Diploma courses in Paediatrics for GPs

• Royal Australasian College of Surgeons

• Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Psychiatrists.

 
Primary Allocation Centres for Interns
In 2016, Hervey Bay Hospital achieved re-accreditation 
of its intern training program through Queensland 
Prevocational Medical Accreditation (QPMA) and 
was approved to directly recruit its interns from 2018 
onwards.  Bundaberg Hospital was re-accredited 
by QPMA later in 2016 with an increased number of 
approved training posts.  Both hospitals received a 
number of commendations from QPMA about their intern 
training programs.

A boon for Wide Bay is that from January 2018, both 
Bundaberg and Hervey Bay will be Primary Allocation 
Centres for interns. For Hervey Bay Hospital, this means 
it now has approval to host interns for their full 12-month 
training program, and has been accredited for 16 intern 
positions with eight graduates to be allocated for 2018. 

With the possibility of increased numbers of graduates 
from 2019 and a redistribution of intern numbers, 
Hervey Bay will be ready to expand the Australian-
trained workforce. This is a powerful tool in an overall 
recruitment and retention strategy for junior staff, 
allowing an expansion of the education and training 
pathway of young doctors. It also has significant flow-on 
effects, improving not only patient care but overall job 
satisfaction for junior and senior staff.

 
Nursing graduate program 
WBHHS runs annual Nursing Graduate Programs 
across its facilities, with a variety of options for length 
of placement and commencement dates. The 12-month 
program gives newly graduated Registered Nurses 
practical experience either in one or two placements, 
incorporating a wide range of specialties such as 
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medical, surgical, paediatrics, emergency, midwifery, 
renal or intensive care, mental health and a rural 
placement. 

In 2016-17, WBHHS took 58 graduate Registered 
Nurses, who were allocated as follows: 

District RN graduates Intake dates

Fraser Coast 29 July, February 

Two six-month rotations – one placement in a general area 
(medical / surgical / rehab), and one in a specialty area such 
as paediatrics, emergency, renal or intensive care. Now also 
includes midwifery. 

Bundaberg 23 July, February 

Mix of two six-month rotations and a one-year program at 
single unit such as medical, surgical, rehab, emergency, 
renal, outpatients or mental health. 

Rural areas 6 February

One-year program at single facility, including one emergency 
rotation to Bundaberg.

 
WBHHS’s family units have now joined the program by 
hosting formal placements for postgraduate midwives. 

The Office of the Chief Nurse and Midwifery Officer, 
Queensland Health, provides some funding for 
graduates employed through the Graduate Nurse 
Online Recruitment process to assist with provision of 
preceptorship. 

The graduates are otherwise part of the workforce 
and are funded as part of the units’ full-time equivalent 
resourcing. Most units have designated annual 
resourcing allocated for graduate nurses, while others 
decide each year what their needs are based on 
workforce needs at the time (such as skill mix, vacancies 
or long-term leave). 

WBHHS has also been working to devise a consistent 
process that would inform the annual graduate intake 
numbers with certainty. The recruitment process for 
nursing graduates – which sees up to 200 applications 
each year – has been  mapped and improved as 
a regional process to give a consistent and timely 
approach to the management of this recruitment drive 
each year.

With the average age of the nursing workforce sitting 
at over 50, the graduate program is also an important 
recruitment and retention tool for our service. It is 
estimated that more than 80% of graduates remain with 
WBHHS for at least the first year after the program’s 
conclusion. 

Professional development
WBHHS has been working hard to offer a range of 
opportunities for employees across the organisation to 
grow their skills and build stronger career paths. 

The rollout of the Business Skills for Health Professionals 
program was completed in December 2016, a two-day 
course run by corporate professionals that aims to give 
more support to staff members in leadership roles and to 
develop their management skill set.  In total about 300 
medical, clinical and operational staff with budgetary, 
management or leadership responsibilities attended. 

To further develop the skills of our leaders and future 
leaders, the Education and Training team has developed 
four new training modules in line with a Certificate IV in 
Leadership and Management. These include modules on 
risk management, workplace priorities, communicating 
effectively as a workplace leader and leading team 
effectiveness. In addition, work is progressing on a 
partnership with CQUniversity’s Faculty of Business to 
develop modules aligning to tertiary learning pathways.

A partnership with the internationally renowned TELL 
centre at University of Western Australia has also seen 
WBHHS invest in training a group of senior clinicians 
as Teaching on the Run (TOTR) facilitators. This group 
of facilitators has subsequently run TOTR modules for 
WBHHS staff, enhancing the knowledge and skills of 
clinicians to teach more effectively in the workplace. 

 
Learning management system
In July 2016, WBHHS deployed an integrated online 
learning management system, called TrainStation. This 
system provides staff with direct access to their own 
training plans and records, personalising the training 
experience to include access to what options are 
both available and mandatory, and receive individual 
reminders when required training is due. 

TrainStation also provides the architecture required to 
capture all WBHHS training and education activity in a 
single database. This enables a clear picture of training 
compliance at all levels and areas we need to target, to 
lift both compliance and quality.

The benefits of the system are becoming clear. 
Throughout 2016-17, an average of 1600 online learning 
modules were completed each month (an increase 
of 25% on the previous year), while there has been 
a 44% year-on-year increase in workplace education 
attendance.

The system has excellent capabilities to be further 
developed in 2017-18. Flexibility to focus on targeting 
training to specific roles and capturing learning as it 
occurs in the workplace will be key enhancements. 
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Undergraduate education collaborative
In 2016-17, WBHHS has worked closely with local 
education partners to collaboratively plan, manage and 
review the experience of undergraduate students as 
valued members of our clinical community with a focus 
on fostering graduate capability and entry to practice 
readiness.

This partnership brings together key regional partners 
in undergraduate education including The University 
of Queensland Rural Clinical School, CQ University, 
University of the Sunshine Coast and TAFE East Coast.  
 

Awards and Recognition
HESTA Awards
Hervey Bay Hospital midwife Debbie Butters was 
a finalist for Nurse of the Year at the 2017 HESTA 
Australian Nursing and Midwifery Awards for her 
contribution to the education of mothers and training of 
other, internationally-based midwives. 

Debbie has volunteered in Fiji, Papua New Guinea, the 
Philippines and Mongolia, helping to educate mothers, 
village attendants and health workers. She has also been 
an integral part of the Hervey Bay Hospital maternity 
team, leading the 2017 Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative 
(BFHI) accreditation process and working as a lactation 
consultant with local mothers.

 
Brian Prince Emergency Service Awards
Bundaberg Hospital Emergency Department Registered 
Nurse Maria-Louise Balchin was named as one of four 
winners of the annual Brian Prince Emergency Services 
Award in April 2017.

The awards are organised annually by the Rotary Club 
of Bundaberg East, and aim to recognise the important 
community contribution made by emergency service 
workers. This year was the first time Emergency 
Department staff were included in the awards, making 
Maria-Louise the inaugural winner of this category. 

LearnX Awards
The implementation of WBHHS’s integrated online 
learning management system, TrainStation, has been 
recognised with a national award – the silver award for 
Best Learning Management System Deployment – by 
LearnX.

Learn X is an annual national e-learning and 
development conference that promotes a series of 
awards for various learning and development initiatives. 
The award will be presented to WBHHS representatives 
at the LearnX Awards in Sydney in September 2017.

 
WBHHS Australia Day Awards
WBHHS holds annual Australia Day Awards to recognise 
the outstanding achievements or contributions of its 
employees, as well as members of the community where 
appropriate. 

In 2017, a record number of peer nominations were 
received, leading to the presentation of 26 awards 
across the region, to nine teams and 17 individuals. 
The awards were presented at locations across Wide 
Bay by Chief Executive Adrian Pennington, Board Chair 
Peta Jamieson and retired Deputy Board Chair Barbara 
Hovard OAM.  

 
Long-service recognition
WBHHS recommenced the presentation of long-service 
awards in 2017, in response to strong support from staff. 
The awards recognise staff not just with long service 
to WBHHS, but also Queensland Health and the public 
service in general.

The first round of presentations coincided with the annual 
Australia Day Awards and focused on employees with 
more than 40 years of service, with further ceremonies 
concentrating on those with at least 30 years’ service.

From January to June 2017 alone, WBHHS presented 
62 certificates to employees totalling a collective 2,259 
years of service, or an average of more than 36 years 
each – an extraordinary achievement. 
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The Board
The Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board consists of 
nine non-executive members who are appointed by the 
Governor in Council, on the recommendation of the State 
Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services. 
The Board is responsible for the governance activities of 
the organisation, deriving its authority from the Hospital 
and Health Boards Act 2011 and the Hospital and Health 
Boards Regulation 2012.

The Board sets the strategic direction for the health 
service and is accountable for its performance against 
key objectives and goals to ensure they meet the needs 
of the community. It also:

• Ensures safety and quality systems are in place 
that are focused on the patient experience, quality 
outcomes, evidence-based practices, education and 
research

• Monitors performance against plans, strategies and 
indicators to ensure the accountable use of public 
resources

• Ensures risk and compliance management systems 
are in place and operating effectively

• Establishes and maintains effective systems to 
ensure that health services meet the needs of the 
community.  

Board and committee meetings
The Board has legislatively prescribed committees that 
assist it to discharge its responsibilities. The Board and 
each committee operate in accordance with a Charter 
that clearly articulates the specific purpose, role, 
functions, responsibilities and membership.  

The Chair and members provide a significant contribution 
to the community through their participation on the Board 
and committees. Remuneration acknowledges this 
contribution and is detailed on page FS-24. 

The Governor in Council approves the remuneration 
for board chairs, deputy chairs and members. The 
annual fees paid by WBHHS are consistent with the 
remuneration procedures for part-time chairs and 
members of Queensland Government bodies. In addition, 
total out-of-pocket expenses paid to the Board during the 

reporting period was $3,903. These expenses include 
domestic travel, accommodation costs, motor vehicle 
allowances and meals.

Board Executive Committee
As set out in section 32B of the Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011, the Executive Committee supports the 
board in progressing the delivery of strategic objectives 
for the Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service and by 
strengthening the relationship between the Board and 
the Chief Executive to ensure accountability in the 
delivery of services.

Board Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee is established in line with 
the requirements of the Hospital and Health Boards 
Regulation 2012. The committee provides independent 
assurance and assistance to the Board on:

• WBHHS’s risk, control and compliance frameworks

• WBHHS’s external accountability responsibilities 
as prescribed in the Financial Accountability Act 
2009, the Financial Accountability Regulation 2009, 
and the Financial and Performance Management 
Standard 2009. 

The committee operates with due regard to the 
Treasury’s Audit Committee Guidelines. The Committee’s 
work is supported by a number of standing invitees to 
the meeting, including the Executive Director of Finance 
and Performance, Internal Audit and External Audit 
representatives. 

Board Finance Committee
The Finance Committee is established in line with 
the requirements of the Hospital and Health Boards 
Regulation 2012. The Executive Director of Finance and 
Performance is a standing invitee to this committee, 
which advises the Board on matters relating to, 
overseeing financial performance and monitoring 
financial systems, financial strategy and policies, capital 
expenditure, cash flow, revenue and budgeting to ensure 
alignment with key strategic priorities and performance 
objectives.

Board Safety and Quality Committee

Our governance
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The Safety and Quality Committee is established in line 
with the requirements of the Hospital and Health Boards 
Regulation 2012. The role of the Safety and Quality 
Committee is to ensure a comprehensive approach to 
governance matters relevant to safety and quality of 
health services is developed and monitored.

The committee is also responsible for advising the Board 

on matters relating to safety and quality of health care 
provided by the health service including but not limited 
to strategies to minimise preventable harm, improving 
the experience of patients and carers receiving health 
services and promoting improvements in workplace 
health and safety.

Organisation structure
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Nominee Position Date originally appointed Current Term of appointment

Peta Jamieson Chair (from 15/12/2016) 26/06/2015 18/05/2017 – 17/05/2021

Bryan Burmeister Board Member 18/05/2014 18/05/2015 – 17/05/2018

Joy Jensen Board Member 18/05/2013 18/05/2017 – 17/05/2020

George Plint Board Member 18/05/2014 18/05/2015 – 17/05/2018

Karen Prentis Board Member 18/05/2017 18/05/2017 – 17/05/2020

Phillip Clift Board Member 18/05/2017 18/05/2017 – 17/05/2018

Anita Brown Board Member 18/05/2017 18/05/2017 – 17/05/2018

Trevor Dixon Board Member 18/05/2017 18/05/2017 – 17/05/2018

Simone Xouris Board Member 18/05/2017 18/05/2017 – 17/05/2018

Retiring members 2016-17

Dominic Devine Chair 14/06/2013 – 24/10/2016

Barbara Hovard Deputy Chair 29/06/2012 – 17/05/2017

Gary Kirk Board Member 1/06/2012  – 17/05/2017

Christopher Hyne Board Member 18/05/2013 – 17/05/2017

Paul Dare Board Member 18/05/2013 – 17/05/2017

Our Board

Board members

Peta Jamieson
Chair

Peta has more than 20 years’ experience with the Queensland Government, Brisbane 
City Council, private sector and the Local Government Association of Queensland 
(LGAQ).  

She has a breadth of both executive and operational experience, and a clear 
understanding of how government, its policies and processes work.

Peta led negotiations on behalf of all councils while at the LGAQ for the development 
of Queensland’s first Environmental Protection Act. She also managed the initial 
formation of the Chief Executive Officers’ Forum, working collaboratively on regional 
projects as part of the Council of Mayors of South East Queensland. 

Peta was a driver of the microeconomic reform of local governments while working 
for the Queensland Government, with a focus on financial sustainability and capacity-
building campaigns for all councils.

Since moving back to the Wide Bay-Burnett region, as the director of Luminous Project 
Services she established her own management consultancy delivering a range of 
economic development, leadership and advocacy services for the public and private 
sector.

Peta is a strong advocate for the Bundaberg and Wide Bay-Burnett region. She 
actively works with community, commercial and government bodies such as the 
Wide Bay-Burnett Regional Organisation of Councils, Starfire Solutions and regional 
councils on a range of local and regional projects and initiatives.

Peta is also a Director on the Gladstone Ports Corporation Board and a member of its 
Human Resources Committee and Risk Committee.



Wide Bay Hospital & Health Service
31Annual Report 2016-2017

Our governance

Professor Bryan Burmeister
Board Member

Bryan is an oncologist based at the Princess Alexandra Hospital in Brisbane. He also 
practices in the private sector and at Hervey Bay Hospital. 

Since 1997 he has been on the staff of the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of 
Queensland, where he is involved in teaching medical students and supervising clinical 
research.

Bryan is frequently invited to speak at both national and international meetings and has 
a major interest in clinical trials involving new radiation technologies, melanoma and 
oesophageal cancer. His research achievements in the past six years include being 
a principal or co-investigator on more than 25 clinical trials and projects, a number 
of which have been awarded funding by the Australian National Health and Medical 
Research Council.

Bryan has more than 25 proffered papers at learned society meetings and has 
published more than 125 papers in peer-reviewed journals. After obtaining his basic 
medical degree in 1976, he successfully graduated in his Doctor of Medicine (MD) at 
The University of Queensland in 2008. He also has a strong involvement in serving the 
professional community and has received several awards for his service.

Bryan was the President of the Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group from 2007–
2012 and was Deputy Chair of the Medical and Scientific Advisory Committee of Cancer 
Council Queensland from 2008–2015. He was also the Chair of the Australian and New 
Zealand  Melanoma Trials Group from 2014–2017.

Bryan has sat on a number of grant review panels and is a frequent manuscript 
reviewer for prestigious oncology journals.

Joy Jensen
Board Member

Joy has the unique distinction of having been the last Mayor of the Perry Shire and the 
first Mayor of the North Burnett Regional Council. Her background is in rural industry, 
namely cattle and horses, and rural communities.

Joy lives west of Mt Perry, where she is a partner in a family-owned and operated beef 
cattle and horse breeding enterprise. She currently chairs the Wide Bay Hospital and 
Health Board’s Safety and Quality Committee. 

Over many years, Joy has contributed in an executive role to a variety of community 
groups from P&C and sporting clubs to care service providers. She is currently the 
secretary of Mt Perry Race Club and a member of Agforce. 

Elected to local government in 2000, Joy was appointed Deputy Mayor of Perry Shire, 
which was a good grounding for her next term when she was elected unopposed as 
Mayor.  It was a testing time for the community as they reluctantly relinquished their 
small Shire Council during the Queensland Local Government Reform process.  

In 2008, she was elected Mayor of the newly amalgamated North Burnett Regional 
Council.  Joy demonstrated her ability to work and lead a team through this time, noting 
the improved financial rating within their first term as a major achievement for the 
council. 

Joy believes an individual’s access to a professional and safe health service is an 
entitlement of every Queenslander and is a keen participant in ensuring health services 
in the Wide Bay are appropriate and effective.
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George Plint
Board Member

George has nearly 40 years’ experience in health care, with almost 20 of those spent in 
management and leadership roles. 

Since 2014 he has been the Service Director of Mental Health and Addiction Service for 
the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service, but also served as the Deputy Director 
of Clinical Services from September 2015 – April 2017, during the transition to the new 
Sunshine Coast University Hospital.

Prior to this he was the Executive Director of the Integrated Mental Health, Alcohol and 
Other Drugs Service for WBHHS. 

George completed his psychiatric nurse training at Baillie Henderson Hospital, 
Toowoomba, in 1982 and his general nursing training at Gold Coast Hospital in 1986. 

He later completed his Bachelor of Nursing Degree from the University of Southern 
Queensland, his Graduate Diploma in Community Mental Health from the University 
of Queensland, and his Graduate Certificate in Health Service Management from the 
Queensland University of Technology. 

George established and managed the Fraser Coast Mental Health Service in 1999. 

He has worked across a range of health settings associated with general and 
psychiatric nursing, and has extensive experience in aged care nursing, the Red Cross 
Blood Service and community mental health case management. 

Karen Prentis
Board Member

Karen has more than 30 years’ experience in the financial services industry, including 
senior executive roles in commercial banking and funds management.

Karen’s breadth of experience has spanned the private and public sectors.  After early 
career appointments in the banking sector and Queensland Treasury, her focus and 
expertise developed predominantly in corporate governance, compliance and risk 
management as a non-executive director.

Karen is a non-executive director with extensive experience in providing strategic 
leadership in the development of strong corporate governance and risk management 
for public and private organisations. She was a director on the South West Hospital and 
Health Service Board and Chair of its Audit and Risk Management Committee.  

Currently, Karen is Chair of compliance committees for two fund managers and an 
external director of a financial services company. She is also the Chair and member of 
Audit and Risk Committees for several State Government departments including the 
Department of Education and Training, and the Department of Community, Child Safety 
and Disability Services.
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Emeritus Professor Phillip Clift
Board Member

Phillip has spent the past 25 years living and working in rural and regional Australia, 
including various locations in Queensland and Western Australia where he has held the 
most senior position on the university campus. 

He has had significant experience in regional development, community engagement 
and the health sector.

Phillip was a foundation member of the South West Health Board in Western Australia, 
where he negotiated the establishment of a combined public and private hospital 
development on the university campus. As a member of the Health Board, he chaired 
the Clinical Appointments Committee and was a member of the Finance and Marketing 
committees.  More recently, Phillip was a Board Director of Wide Bay Medicare Local 
and chaired the Strategic Planning Committee, the Accreditation and Risk Committee, 
the Directors’ Nomination Committee, and the Bid Committee for the proposed Primary 
Health Network (PHN). 

He is passionate about regional Australia and has contributed to regional development 
through his membership of organisations such as Regional Development Australia and 
the Mackay-Whitsunday Regional Development Organisation. 

Phillip holds degrees from The University of Queensland and The University of 
Edinburgh. He is a Fellow of the Royal Statistical Society, a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Management, and has undertaken consultancy work in organisational 
design, finance, human resources and marketing.

He is currently Patron of U3A Bundaberg and Chair of The University of Queensland 
Rural Clinical School Advisory Committee. 

Simone Xouris
Board Member

Simone has more than 25 years’ experience in the health sector and continues to 
practice in a private capacity as an Accredited Practising Dietitian. 

She is currently the General Manager of RHealth, a not-for-profit primary healthcare 
organisation serving rural and remote communities. 

Simone’s previous roles have included practising as a dietitian in a variety of locations 
and positions including public hospitals, community health and private organisations, in 
rural and remote locations and overseas. 

She has held a variety of management roles within Blue Care, with the majority of this 
being Manager of Allied Health Services for the Fraser Coast and Bundaberg regions. 
She has also previously been Senior Manager of Primary Health Care with a Medicare 
Local organisation, overseeing primary health care programs and staff. 

Simone joined RHealth in November 2015 as a Senior Program Manager, before being 
appointed General Manager in January 2016.
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Anita Brown
Board Member

Anita is an experienced director, executive manager, governance and legal professional, 
having worked across a broad range of environments and industries in Australia and 
internationally.

She holds bachelor degrees in Accountancy and Law, a masters degree in Law and 
certificates in Risk Management and Governance Practice and Administration. She is 
also a non-executive director of the Real Estate Institute of Queensland Ltd (REIQ) and 
member of its Finance, Audit and Risk Committee, and a former non-executive director 
of TAFE Queensland and Chair of its Remuneration & Nominations Committee.

Anita is the former General Counsel and Company Secretary for Transfield Services 
Americas and Executive General Manager (Legal and Risk), and Company Secretary 
for Easternwell Group Pty Ltd. 

Since 1998 she has been a Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Queensland and the 
High Court of Australia and a Solicitor/Barrister in the Australian Capital Territory, and 
has worked for a number of top-tier law firms. She has also worked as an Accountant, 
Commercial Director and owned her own business.

Anita currently provides management, board, corporate governance, risk management 
and company secretarial consulting services to a broad range of industries in Australia 
and internationally.

Trevor Dixon
Board Member

Trevor has 30 years’ board experience, as a director of both private and publicly-listed 
companies.

Since 2004 he has been an independent director of Prime Super, a $3 billion not-for-
profit industry superannuation fund focusing on rural and regional Australia. Throughout 
his time with the fund, he has also been the Deputy Chair of Directors, and has chaired 
the Investment; Remuneration; and  Audit, Compliance and Risk committees. 

Trevor is a Certified Practising Accountant with a Bachelor of Business degree, and is 
also a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

He has held a number of Chief Finance Officer roles with a variety of large and smaller 
privately owned businesses in the Wide Bay and interstate, particularly in the building 
and agriculture sectors. 

His finance background has led to him having a strong governance and risk 
management focus, and – combined with his strong operational experience – has 
enabled him to make significant contributions to all of the boards on which he has 
served.

Trevor’s experience with boards, both as a director and CFO, has made him acutely 
aware of the importance of satisfying stakeholder interests to bring out the best in an 
organisation.



Wide Bay Hospital & Health Service
35Annual Report 2016-2017

Our governance

Dominic Devine
Chairman
Resigned October 24, 2016

Dominic is a Bundaberg-based businessman who has had significant experience on 
numerous business, community and industry boards.

He is married to Tracey and has two daughters, and their family lives in the Bundaberg 
region.

Dominic spent his childhood and school years in Bundaberg. Prior to moving back home 
to Bundaberg in 2010, he spent almost 20 years living in Charleville developing his 
business.

Dominic is a qualified valuer and is the senior partner at Leichardt Group, a firm 
he established in 1993 in Charleville with his wife. Leichardt Group is a specialised 
agricultural advisory and accounting practice with offices in Brisbane, Charleville, Roma 
and Mackay.

During the past 20 years, he has served on numerous business, community and 
industry boards and has been a member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors since 2006.

Dominic has always been passionate about being involved in important community 
issues such as health, education and regional development.

Barbara Hovard OAM
Deputy Chair
Term concluded 2017

Barbara has a long history of local and state government experience in the Wide Bay 
region. She has served on the Maryborough City Council as well as the amalgamated 
Fraser Coast Regional Council, and was formerly employed by Queensland Health 
working both in Community Health and at Maryborough Hospital.

Barbara’s 15-year service in local government included seven years as a councillor 
with Maryborough City Council, one term as Mayor, and one term as a councillor on the 
amalgamated Fraser Coast Regional Council.  She did not seek re-election in 2012 due 
to her decision to retire.

Before commencing a career in local government, Barbara spent more than 20 years 
providing aged, community and hospital-based care to the people of Maryborough 
and Wide Bay including periods with the Blue Nurses and managing the Fair Haven 
Retirement Village.  

She was awarded a Bachelor of Business in 1996 while employed by Queensland 
Health and an Order of Australia Medal in 2015 for her work in local government and the 
community.   

In retirement, Barbara remains busy through volunteering.
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Gary Kirk
Board Member
Term concluded 2017

Gary has almost 40 years’ experience in the public education system in Queensland as a 
school teacher and later as principal until his retirement in 2010. He has contributed to the 
community for nearly two decades. 

Gary has taught students and guided teachers in the Queensland public education system, 
both in country and city settings including Bundaberg and Surat.

As a member of the Queensland Association of State School Principals (QASSP) for 20 
years, he held the positions of Branch President, Secretary and Treasurer as well as 
supporting the organisation’s aims to support, develop and strengthen educational leadership 
capabilities to improve outcomes for state school students in Queensland.

Gary and his wife Elaine were involved in the local tourism industry for several years, 
operating Baffle Retreat Bed and Breakfast, located in Winfield, until 2015.

Gary has also contributed to the community through his membership of Rotary International. 
He was involved in Rotary Club of Bundaberg Sunrise for 17 years, firstly as a member, and 
later Service Director and President. 

Gary was appointed an Ambassadorial Speaker by the Prostate Cancer Foundation of 
Australia and has travelled throughout rural Queensland educating men about prostate 
cancer.

Paul Dare
Board Member 
Term concluded 2017

Paul has had a successful career in the military and business world, and until recently 
pastored a church in Mundubbera.

Paul has two adult children. He spent his childhood in rural Tasmania, followed by 20 years in 
the Australian Army, during which time he completed a trade in electronics. 

In 1989 he attended the Royal Military College Duntroon and, on graduation, served in the 
Army’s aviation division as an aerospace engineer and logistics manager. He left the Army to 
pursue a career in the aviation field. Paul spent six years working for Sikorsky Australia – the 
manufacturer of the Blackhawk and Sea Hawk helicopters – as its Australian Defence Force 
customer service manager and engineering manager.

In 2007 he changed direction and undertook studies to become a pastor within Queensland 
Baptists, leading him to his pastoring role in Mundubbera. Paul has a passion for people and 
wants the best to be brought out in everyone he meets.

Paul has the following formal qualifications: MBA (Technology Management), MDiv, Grad Dip 
Ministry and BEng (Aerospace).

Christopher Hyne
Board Member
Term concluded 2017

Christopher has a long and successful history in the business, industry and community 
sectors, both in the Wide Bay and across Queensland. He was born in Maryborough in 1945, 
educated in Toowoomba and Brisbane, and has lived in Ferney, south of Maryborough, since 
1980. 

Aside from his Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board commitments, Christopher is a Board 
director and chair of several committees for Hyne Timber, Australia’s largest privately owned 
and operated timber manufacturing company. He is also a Director of the Australian Forest 
Products Association. 

Throughout his career, Christopher held a series of senior positions with Hyne Timber 
including Branch Mills Manager, Marketing Manager and Business Development Manager. 
Christopher has also previously held a wide range of Board roles over the years. These 
include: Chairman – Bassett Barks Pty Ltd; Director – Charles Porter and Sons Pty Ltd; 
Director – Nanum Tawap Ltd (Weipa); Chairman – Pine and Hardwood Divisions of the 
Queensland Timber Board; Deputy Chairman – Queensland Timber Board; and Chairman – 
Timber Research and Development Advisory Council.

Christopher is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. His formal 
qualifications include a Diploma in Marketing from the University of Singapore and a Bachelor 
of Science from the University of Queensland. 



Wide Bay Hospital & Health Service
37Annual Report 2016-2017

Our governance

Name Board Executive Finance
Safety & 
Quality

Audit & Risk

Meetings held 13 2 3 4 4

Peta Jamieson 
Board Chair 
Executive Committee Chair

13 2 3 - 4

Joy Jensen 
Safety & Quality Chair

12 2 - 4 -

Trevor Dixon^ 
Finance Chair

2 - - - -

Karen Prentis^ 
Audit & Risk Chair

1 - - - -

Prof Bryan Burmeister 10 2 - 4 -

George Plint 10 - - 3 3

Anita Brown^ 2 - - - -

Prof Phillip Clift^ 2 - - - -

Simone Xouris^ 2 - - - -

Dominic Devine  
Board Chair  
Executive Committee Chair

1 0 0 1 2

Barbara Hovard OAM ~ 
Deputy Chair 11 2 2 3 -

Gary Kirk ~  
Audit & Risk Chair

9 2 - - 3

Christopher Hyne ~  
Finance Chair

10 1 3 - -

Paul Dare ~ 8 - 3 - 4

Board Committee Memberships

~ During the reporting period, the terms of office of four members expired on 17 May, 2017 and one member resigned from office.

^ From 18 May 2016, five new Board members commenced. As such, not all Board members were eligible to attend all meetings 
during the reporting period.

The number of Board and Committee meetings attended by each member during 
the reporting period is set out in the table below.
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Our executive team

Adrian has almost 40 years’ healthcare experience, 
more than half of which has been at executive and 
senior management levels – both within acute hospitals 
and leading national programs within the United 
Kingdom’s National Health Service (NHS).

During Adrian’s career, he has managed every 
department within a hospital including support services. 

His previous employment includes Chief Executive 
Officer of the James Paget University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust and Chief Executive of NHS Heart 
Improvement.

The latter role saw him head up a national heart disease 
program for seven years, during which time mortality 
figures reduced from 130,000 to 68,000 per year. He 
also led clinical redesign work, including the introduction 
of clinical microsystems, using the Lean and Six Sigma 
methodology. 

While CEO at the James Paget University Hospitals, 
Adrian raised the profile of the Trust to being 
commensurate with University Hospital status. During 
that time he also oversaw the first six-week, one-stop 
pathway across all specialties from GP referral to 
surgical event; delivered a surplus financial position 
performance exceeding 15% of annual turnover; and 
achieved the highest possible quality recognition from 
the Healthcare Commission.

He also published “How to avoid a CDiff outbreak in 
healthcare”, which became a national reference guide 
for all hospitals in England, and won the cleanest 
hospital of the year award in 2008. 

Adrian has previously acted as an advisor to the 
Minister of Health in British Columbia to develop a 
strategy for health redesign for the province. 

His last role prior to joining WBHHS was as National 
Director of the NHS’s Quality Accounts division. During 
this time, he led the introduction of the legislative 
requirement for all health providers in England, including 
in the independent sector, to produce an annual quality 
account – a critical clinical governance tool reporting on 
standards of care and safety. 

Adrian has more than 60 published documents 
recognised internationally and has presented in many 
countries including the United States, Canada, Czech 
Republic, Finland, Australia and New Zealand. He has 
lectured for Harvard and Stanford Universities on topics 
including process improvement activity and developing 
strategies for country-wide service improvement. 

He has recently been appointed as the Queensland 
representative to the Board of the Australian Healthcare 
and Hospitals Association, and the Australian 
representative to the Council of the International 
Hospital Federation.

Prof Adrian Pennington
Chief Executive



Wide Bay Hospital & Health Service
39Annual Report 2016-2017

Our governance

Deborah has worked in public health for more than 35 
years and has held leadership roles across a number 
of health facilities throughout Queensland. She has 
undertaken significant postgraduate studies including 
a Masters of Health Administration and Information 
Systems, and a Graduate Certificate in Health Service 
Planning. 

Deborah completed her general nurse training in 1981 
at Mackay Base Hospital, where she was acknowledged 
both for outstanding theoretical knowledge and nursing 
care. 

She later gained a Bachelor of Health Science (Nursing) 
with Distinction from Central Queensland University 
in 1995, a Graduate Diploma in Emergency Nursing 
and endorsement as a Rural and Isolated Practice 
registered nurse. 

Deborah held several senior positions in north and 

central Queensland health services, in which she 
oversaw the introduction of new models of care and 
the successful completion of several large capital 
works projects. As Nursing Director with oversight of 
the Clinical Improvement Unit in Rockhampton, she 
established the first Clinical Governance, Risk and 
Quality Unit in regional Queensland. 

Deborah joined WBHHS in 2006 as Executive Director 
of Nursing and Midwifery Services and has been 
Chief Operating Officer since 2014, overseeing the 
introduction of several new services and improvements 
in access, wait times and patient flow. 

In 2008, she was awarded a Queensland Health 
Australia Day Award for exceptional leadership and 
restoring community confidence, and again in 2014 for 
her exceptional leadership during the 2013 floods.

Deborah Carroll
Chief Operating Officer

Katrina has more than 30 years’ experience in general 
and mental health nursing, almost a decade of which 
has been spent in senior leadership and management 
roles. 

She has a strong track record in change management, 
risk and quality frameworks, and governance and 
strategy. This has included a lead role for the Darling 
Downs to transition to a Statutory Body in 2012. 

Katrina began her psychiatric nursing career at the 
Baillie Henderson Hospital in 1985, later attaining her 
general nursing certificate from Toowoomba Hospital. 
She held a number of key roles throughout her long 
career at Toowoomba District Mental Health Service, 
including Project Officer of a new information system 
rollout, Program Coordinator of inpatient rehabilitation 

services and Integrated Risk Coordinator.  

She has also held several leadership roles with the 
Darling Downs Hospital and Health Service, including 
Acute and Community Mental Health Service Manager, 
Director of Mental Health, and Director of Executive 
Services.

Prior to joining WBHHS in March 2017, Katrina spent 
six months as the Acting Executive Director of Clinical 
Governance for Townsville Hospital and Health Service, 
a contract role in which one of her key achievements 
was the establishment and implementation of an 
improved safety and quality framework.

She is a member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and the Australian College of Mental Health 
Nurses.  

Katrina Mathies
Acting Executive Director of Governance, Strategy and Planning
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Peter has worked within the public service, both at the federal 
and state level, for 30 years, holding a variety of senior posts in 
both sectors. 

He was appointed Executive Director of Human Resource 
Services in April 2016, after acting in the role since February 
2014. Prior to this, he was Human Resources Manager for 
Bundaberg and North Burnett for four years. 

Peter was previously employed in Brisbane as the Principal 
HR Advisor with the Department of Employment, Economic 
Development and Innovation, following a similar role with the 
Department of Tourism, Regional Development and Industry.

He also held a number of senior and Principal Human Resource 

roles within the Environmental Protection Agency from 2001 – 
2007. 

Peter’s other roles in the public sector have been with the 
Department of Defence, based in Canberra and other locations, 
where he held positions in the Australian Signals Directorate, 
Defence Intelligence Organisation and with the Royal Australian 
Navy, where he was initially trained as a linguistics analyst. 

Peter has overseen the highly successful introduction of the 
PRAISE occupational health and safety program, which has 
boosted WBHHS’s safety culture and led to a significant 
reduction in work-related injuries, lost work time and insurance 
premium costs.

Peter Heinz
Executive Director of Human Resource Services

Robyn has worked in health management roles for more than 
20 years, and has held management and executive leadership 
positions both in Wide Bay and South West Queensland. 

She completed her degree in Occupational Therapy at Curtin 
University, Western Australia, in 1990 and has subsequently 
engaged in further studies towards her Masters in Health 
Management. 

Robyn has presented papers both at mental health and allied 
health national and international conferences on rural models 
of care for Mental Health services, including a national Primary 
Health Network (PHN) conference this year on national mental 
health planning frameworks and tools. 

She is passionate about driving access and equity, and 
developing a community approach that acknowledges and 
supports the pathway to recovery for mental health consumers. 

Robyn has been instrumental in leading collaborations with 
partners such as the PHN and non-government service 
providers to better target and deliver services.

One of her key achievements has been developing and 
employing consumers with a lived experience, which led to 
the important development of a peer support workforce in the 
commissioning of a new Community Care Unit at Bundaberg. 

Robyn Bradley
Executive Director of Mental 
Health, Alcohol and Other Drugs 
Service

Scott is a qualified accountant and senior executive with 
more than 20 years’ experience across a diverse range of 
industries in the private and public sectors, both in Australia and 
internationally.  

He has a strong track record of leading continuous 
improvement and driving change, and in strategic planning for 
sustainability.

Scott completed a Bachelor of Commerce degree with first-
class honours in 1994 and was accepted into the prestigious 
BHP Billiton four-year graduate program, before spending 
seven years working in London’s financial services industry at 
senior and director level. 

He joined Queensland Health in 2011 as Chief Finance Officer 
at Darling Downs HHS, leading a $40 million turnaround from 
deficit to surplus in the transition from a Health Service District 
to an HHS. He has been WBHHS Executive Director for 
Finance and Performance since December 2015. 

Scott is a Fellow of Certified Practicing Accountants Australia 
and a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors.

Scott McConnel
Executive Director of Finance  
and Performance
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Fiona has more than 25 years’ experience in nursing, 
completing her training at Maryborough Base Hospital 
in 1990 before gaining further experience in other 
Queensland public and private healthcare facilities. 

She moved back to the Wide Bay region in 1994, joining 
Bundaberg Hospital as a registered nurse. Since then 
her career trajectory has carried her swiftly through a 
diverse range of senior nursing roles at both clinical and 
managerial levels. 

Fiona has successfully completed studies in the 
areas of Orthopaedic Nursing, Emergency Nursing, 
Investigations Management and Report Writing, and 

has a postgraduate certificate in Health Leadership, 
Management and Quality. 

She was awarded a Queensland Health Australia Day 
Award for exceptional leadership during the 2013 
Bundaberg floods. 

In October 2015, Fiona oversaw the highly successful 
WBHHS Nursing and Midwifery Symposium, a first of its 
kind in Wide Bay which attracted almost 180 nurses and 
featured more than 40 presentations focused on patient 
care and innovation. 

She is currently undertaking her Masters of Business 
Administration.

Fiona Sewell
Executive Director of Nursing and Midwifery Services

Greg has 40 years’ experience working in medicine both 
in the public and private sectors. 

He first qualified as a Medical Officer from Sydney 
University in 1977 and worked in Adelaide for 15 
years. He has since worked elsewhere in Australia 
and internationally in various roles including in general 
practice and emergency medicine on land and at sea; 
as a Medical Advisor in West Papua; Coordinator of 
General Practice Training; and numerous positions as 
Director of Medical Services in the public and private 
sectors throughout Queensland. 

Since he joined Queensland Health in 2006, Greg has 
been responsible for overseeing all aspects of medical 
services, including financial management, credentialing 
and HR issues, and the implementation of Telehealth 
services in rural and remote Queensland. 

Greg oversaw the successful introduction within 
WBHHS of workplace-based assessments, a 
Queensland-first program that assesses international 
medical graduates over a 12-month period and 
improves staff recruitment and retention. 

Dr Greg Coffey
District Director of Medical Services
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Executive Management 
The Health Service Chief Executive (HSCE) is 
accountable to the Board for all aspects of WBHHS 
performance, including the overall management of 
human, material and financial resources and the 
maintenance of health service and professional 
performance standards. The Executive Management 
Team supports the HSCE, and comprises executive 
directors with specific responsibilities and accountabilities 
for the effective performance of the organisation.

To guide the operation of the organisation, a system 
of committees has been implemented. The Executive 
Management Committee is the overarching committee, 
which is chaired by the Health Service Chief Executive 
and provides a vehicle for integrated leadership and 
management of WBHHS’s operational performance.

Risk Management
WBHHS recognises that risk management is an essential 
element of good corporate governance and is committed 
to managing risk in order to ensure its strategic and 
operational objectives are achieved.

WBHHS has established and maintained a risk 
management system based on the Australian/New 
Zealand Standard ISO31000:2009 Risk Management 
– Principles and guidelines  and the National Safety 
and Quality Health Service Standard 1, Governance for 
Safety and Quality in Health Service Organisations.

Risk management issues are regularly monitored 
and reported to the Board through the Audit and Risk 
Committee and the Safety and Quality Committee.

WBHHS is currently undertaking a review of the entire 
risk management system, including capability and 
governance systems, to ensure the system remains fit for 
purpose and up-to-date, and is delivering effective and 
robust risk management practices.

Patient Safety and Quality of Care
Safeguarding and improving the safety and quality of 
patient care is a key priority and informs all aspects of 
the provision of services and decisions across the health 
service.

The Board, Chief Executive and management are 
responsible and accountable for ensuring systems and 

processes are in place to support clinicians in providing 
safe, high-quality care, and in ensuring clinicians 
participate in governance activities. These systems are 
established to set, monitor and improve the performance 
of the organisation, and communicate the importance of 
safety and quality to all members of the workforce.

The WBHHS Clinical Governance Framework sets 
out the fundamentals to provide governance for safety 
and quality, which is a complex environment with 
multiple requirements for compliance and reporting. 
This document provides guidance on establishing 
the systems, processes and behaviours necessary to 
maintain high standards and to promote the pursuit of 
excellence through continuous improvement.

WBHHS’s annual Quality of Care Report demonstrates 
our commitment to ensuring every patient receives the 
best possible care. The report highlights measures in 
which the WBHHS has exceeded state and national 
benchmarks, or our own ambitious benchmarks. It 
also provides information on measures where we 
believe we can do better through improvement in our 
internal processes. By transparently communicating 
our performance, we aim to increase public confidence, 
increase health service accountability and drive quality 
improvement.

We are accredited by the Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards (ACHS). Accreditation is a 
formal process that assesses our performance against 
agreed national safety and quality healthcare standards. 
Currently, the process assesses organisations against 
the full suite of National Safety and Quality Health 
Service Standards (NSQHSS) every four years, with a 
periodic review every two years.

To move towards a Quality Care Everyday philosophy, 
WBHHS, Metro South HHS and the ACHS have been 
jointly working on an Australian-first pilot to move from a 
cyclical accreditation process to a continuous and short-
notice accreditation process.  Based on the observations 
of other industries (such as child care and aged care) 
a concept of short-notice survey assessments against 
the standards was believed to be a way to improve and 
embed the “quality culture” within the healthcare setting.

The Short Notice Accreditation Assessment Process 
(SNAAP) has approval from Queensland Health and 
the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in 
Health Care (as the accreditation scheme owners). 
After significant groundwork over the past few years, the 
continuous accreditation process will be live in 2017-18. 
An independently selected research body will undertake 
objective research on the project. 
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External Scrutiny
WBHHS operations are subject to regular scrutiny 
from external oversight bodies. These include but are 
not limited to the Queensland Audit Office (QAO), 
Crime and Corruption Commission, Office of the 
Health Ombudsman, Australian Council on Healthcare 
Standards, Queensland Ombudsman, and the Coroner. 

WBHHS has mechanisms in place to monitor and 
report on corrective actions taken to implement 
recommendations made from external agencies. 

Parliamentary reports tabled by the Auditor-General 
in 2016-17 that considered the performance of health 
services more broadly included: 

• Report 9: 2016-17 – Hospital and Health Services: 
2015-16 results of financial audits

• Report 10: 2016-17 – Efficient and effective use of 
high-value medical equipment.

WBHHS considered the findings and recommendations 
contained in these reports and, where appropriate, has 
taken action to implement recommendations or address 
issues raised. 

Internal Audit
Wide Bay, Central Queensland and Sunshine Coast 
Hospital and Health Services have established an 
internal audit agreement under a hub and spoke, co-
sourced model to ensure the effective, efficient and 
economical operation of the audit function. 

The role, operating environment and reporting 
arrangements of the function are established in the 
Internal Audit Charter, which has due regard to the 
professional standards and Treasury’s Audit Committee 
Guidelines: Improving Accountability and Performance. 

This internal audit function provides independent 
assurance and advice to the Wide Bay Hospital and 
Health Board’s Audit and Risk Committee, the Health 
Service Chief Executive and senior management. It 
enhances WBHHS’s corporate governance environment 
through an objective, systematic approach to evaluating 
the effectiveness and efficiency of corporate governance 
processes, internal controls and risk assessment. This 
is in keeping with the role and responsibilities detailed 
in Part 2, Division 5 of the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2009. 

The internal audit function is independent of 
management and external auditors, and has operated in 

accordance with a strategic and annual plan approved 
by the Board Audit and Risk Committee. The activities of 
the function and the status against the Annual Audit Plan 
are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee through a 
Quarterly Report. The function has: 

• discharged the responsibilities established in 
the Charter by executing the annual audit plan 
prepared as a result of risk assessments, materiality, 
contractual and statutory obligations, as well as 
through consultation with executive management 

• provided reports on the results of audits undertaken 
to the Health Service Chief Executive and the Audit 
and Risk Committee 

• monitored and reported on the status of the 
implementation of audit recommendations to 
the Audit and Risk Committee. Management 
is responsible for the implementation of audit 
recommendations 

• liaised with the Queensland Audit Office to ensure 
there was no duplication of “audit effort” 

• supported management by providing advice on 
corporate governance and related issues including 
fraud and corruption prevention programs and risk 
management 

• allocated audit resources to areas on a risk basis 
where the work of internal audit can be valuable 
in providing positive assurance or identifying 
opportunities for positive change 

• provided a high-level review of WBHHS’s annual 
financial statements presented to the Audit and Risk 
Committee for endorsement. 

The audit team consists of members of professional 
bodies including the Institute of Internal Auditors, CPA 
Australia and the Information System Audit and Control 
Association (ISACA). The head of the internal audit team 
is Lee Peters BBus, CPA, PFIIA CIA.

 

Ethics and code of conduct
WBHHS is committed to upholding the values and 
standards outlined in the Code of Conduct for the 
Queensland Public Service, which was developed in 
accordance with the four core principles contained in the 
Public Sector Ethics Act 1991: Integrity and impartiality, 
Promoting the public good, Commitment to the system of 
government, and Accountability and transparency.

All staff employed in WBHHS are required to undertake 
training in the Code of Conduct for the Queensland 
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Public Service during their orientation, and re-familiarise 
themselves with the Code at regular intervals.

All employees are expected to uphold the code by 
committing to and demonstrating the intent and spirit of 
the ethics, principles and values. WBHHS support and 
encourage the reporting of Public Interest Disclosures. 
All employees have a responsibility to disclose suspected 
wrongdoing in accordance with the WBHHS Public 
Interest Disclosure Policy.

Information systems and
record keeping
The Public Records Act 2002, Information Standard 
40: Recordkeeping (IS40) and Information Standard 
31: Retention and Disposal of Public Records (IS31) 
provides overarching governance for recordkeeping 
practices within WBHHS. The Queensland State 
Archives provide additional guidelines relevant to 
retention and disposal. 

Training is available to all staff regarding security, 
privacy and confidentiality, and records management at 
orientation, department inductions and through WBHHS’s 
Health Information Services team. 

Corporate recordkeeping leadership, authority and 
responsibilities are assigned to appropriately qualified 
and experienced staff.

Clinical records are maintained in accordance with 
a retention and disposal system compliant with the 
Queensland State Archives Health Sector (Clinical 
Records) Retention and Disposal Schedule (QDAN683 
V.1).

In accordance with Section 160 of the Hospital and 
Health Boards Act 2011, the disclosure of confidential 
information is permitted if the Chief Executive of the 
service believes, on reasonable grounds, the disclosure 
is in the public interest; and the Chief Executive has, 
in writing, authorised the disclosure. There were no 
disclosures by the WBHHS under this provision during 
2016-17.

Machinery of Government 
WBHHS was not subject to any Machinery of 
Government changes in 2016-17.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

2017 2016
OPERATING RESULT Notes $'000 $'000

Income 
User charges and fees A1-1 564,645 523,886
Grants and other contributions A1-2 4,642 4,226
Other revenue A1-3 5,028 4,481
Total Revenue 574,315 532,593

Gain on disposals 1 79
Total Income from Continuing Operations 574,316 532,672

Expenses 
Employee expenses A2-1 60,077 54,975
Health service employee expenses A2-2 315,209 306,373
Supplies and services A2-3 171,856 168,157
Depreciation and amortisation B4-1 14,864 15,356
Impairment losses B2-2 605 468
Other expenses A2-4 950 1,401
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 563,561 546,730

Operating Result for the year from Continuing Operations 10,755 (14,058)

Other Comprehensive Income 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus B8-2 25,631 1,282
Total Other Comprehensive Income for the year 25,631 1,282

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 36,386 (12,776)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

as at 30 June 2017 

2017 2016
Notes $'000 $'000

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents B1 4,992 (4,840)
Trade and other receivables B2-1 22,882 13,730
Inventories B3 4,784 4,031
Prepayments 292 432
Total Current Assets 32,950 13,353

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment B4-1 236,615 213,986
Intangibles 42 62
Total Non-Current Assets 236,657 214,048

Total Assets 269,607 227,401

Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables B5 25,373 23,878
Accrued employees benefits B6 2,022 1,680
Unearned revenue B7 9,184 284
Total Current Liabilities 36,579 25,842

Total Liabilities 36,579 25,842

Net Assets 233,028 201,559

Equity 
Contributed equity B8-1 195,470 200,387
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (3,128) (13,883)
Asset revaluation surplus B8-2 40,686 15,055
Total Equity 233,028 201,559
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The accompanying notes form part of these statements.  FS - 5

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

Contributed 
equity

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus 

Accumulated 
surplus/ 
(deficit) 

Total 
equity

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 July 2015 172,774 13,773 175 186,722
Profit and Loss 
Operating result from continuing operations - - (14,058) (14,058)
Other Comprehensive Income 

Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus - 1,282 - 1,282
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - 1,282 (14,058) (12,776)

Transaction with Owners: 
Non-appropriated equity asset transfers B8-1 33,741 - - 33,741
Non-appropriated equity injections - minor capital works B8-1 9,211 - - 9,211
Non-appropriated equity withdrawals - Depreciation 
funding B8-1 (15,339) - - (15,339)
Net Transactions with Owners as Owners 27,613 - - 27,613

Balance at 30 June 2016 200,387 15,055 (13,883) 201,559

Balance as at 1 July 2016 200,387 15,055 (13,883) 201,559
Profit and Loss 
Operating result from continuing operations - - 10,755 10,755
Other Comprehensive Income 

Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus - 25,631 - 25,631
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - 25,631 10,755 36,386

Transaction with Owners: 
Equity asset transfers B8-1 862 862
Non appropriated equity injections - minor capital works B8-1 9,085 9,085
Non appropriated equity withdrawals - Depreciation 
funding B8-1 (14,864) (14,864)
Net Transactions with Owners as Owners (4,917) - - (4,917)

Balance at 30 June 2017 195,470 40,686 (3,128) 233,028
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

2017 2016
Notes $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities 
Inflows 
User charges and fees 550,576 506,487
Grants and other contributions 4,790 4,323
GST input tax credits from ATO 9,395 9,801
GST collected from customers 501 463
Other receipts 4,970 4,995

Outflows 
Employee expenses (59,731) (53,470)
Health service employee expenses (314,389) (308,397)
Supplies and services (173,333) (163,620)
GST paid to suppliers (9,769) (9,801)
GST remitted to ATO (529) (449)
Other payments (694) (1,001)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities CF-1 11,787 (10,669)

Cash flows from investing activities 
Inflows 
Sales of property, plant and equipment 22 79

Outflows 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (11,062) (9,438)
Net cash used in investing activities (11,040) (9,359)

Cash flows from financing activities 
Inflows 
Equity injections 9,085 9,211

Net cash provided by financing activities 9,085 9,211

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,832 (10,817)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year (4,840) 5,977
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year B1 4,992 (4,840)
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CF-1 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

CF-1 Reconciliation of operating result to net cash from operating activities 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Operating result from continuing operations 10,755 (14,058) 

Non-cash items: 
Depreciation and amortisation 14,864 15,355 
Depreciation grant funding (14,864) (15,339) 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 86 283
Donated assets / asset adjustments (22) (23) 
Inventory adjustment - (10) 

Changes in assets and liabilities: 
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables 1,777 2,144 
(Increase)/Decrease in funding receivables (10,531) (3,258) 
(Increase)/Decrease in GST receivables (401) 14
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (753) 103
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments 140 (186) 
Increase/(Decrease) in accounts payable 1,493 3,406 
Increase/(Decrease) in unearned revenue 8,900 202
Increase/(Decrease) in accrued employee benefits 343 697
Net cash provided by (used in)  operating activities 11,787 (10,669) 
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for the year ended 30 June 2017 

FS - 8

BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION  

GENERAL INFORMATION 
The Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service was established on 1st July 2012 as a not-for-profit statutory body under the Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011, and is domiciled in Australia. The HHS is responsible for providing primary health, community and health services and hospital 
services in the area assigned under the Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012.

Funding is obtained predominately through the purchase of health services by the Department of Health (DOH) on behalf of both the State and 
Australian Governments. In addition, health services are provided on a fee for service basis mainly for private patient care. 

The Hospital and Health Service is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent. 

The head office and principal place of business of WBHHS is: 

c/- Bundaberg Hospital 
PO Box 34 
Bundaberg QLD 4670 

CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
WBHHS does not have any controlled entities. 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
The financial statements: 

- have been prepared in compliance with section 62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and section 43 of the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2009;

- are general purpose financial statement prepared on a historical cost basis, except where stated otherwise; 

- are presented in Australian dollars; 

- have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where the amount is $500 or less, to zero unless the disclosure of the full amount is 
specifically required; 

- present reclassified comparative information where required for consistency with the current year’s presentation; 

- have been prepared in accordance with all applicable new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretation as well
at the Queensland Treasury’s Minimum Reporting Requirements for the year ended 30 June 2017, and other authoritative 
pronouncements.

- Assets and liabilities are classified as either ‘current’ or ‘non-current’ in the Statement of Financial Position and associated notes.  
Assets are classified as ‘current’ where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date.  
Liabilities are classified as ‘current’ when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date.  All other assets and 
liabilities are classified as non-current. 

AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE 
The general purpose financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chair, the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer at the date of 
signing the Management Certificate. 

FURTHER INFORMATION 
For information in relation to WBHHS’s financial statements: 
 Visit the WBHHS website at: www.health.qld.gov.au/widebay
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 NOTES ABOUT FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE A

A1 REVENUE 

Note A1-1: User charges and fees 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Activity based funding 
Commonwealth 152,554 134,265 
State 248,202 269,482 

Block funding 
Commonwealth 14,868 13,944 
State 25,795 25,180 

Teaching, Training and Research 
Commonwealth 1,632 1,411 
State 10,018 9,947 

General purpose funding 
System Manager Funds # 58,998 19,037 
State - Depreciation 14,864 15,338 

Pharmaceutical Benefit Scheme 16,559 14,141 
Sales of goods and services 2,880 2,869 
Hospital fees 18,275 18,272 

Total 564,645 523,886 

# Includes $16.2m (2016 $5.6m) in accrued funding from the Department at 30 June 2017.  This relates predominantly to Commonwealth
growth funding as a result of overachievement of activity targets during 2016-17. 

Funding is provided predominately by the Department of Health for specific public health services purchased by the Department in accordance 
with a service agreement. The Department of Health receives its revenue for funding from the Queensland Government (majority of funding) 
and the Commonwealth. Activity based funding is based on an agreed number of activities, per the service agreement and a state-wide price by 
which relevant activities are funded. Block funding is not based on levels of public health care activity. Funding is provided for Teaching, 
Training and Research to ensure support is provided for clinical placements for students from tertiary education providers and to support 
research to improve clinical outcomes.  Funding from the System Manager (DoH), represents funding for items not covered under the National 
Health Reform Agenda such as prevention and health promotion activities. The service agreement is reviewed periodically and updated for 
changes in activities and prices of services delivered by WBHHS. The funding from the Department is received fortnightly in advance. At the end 
of the financial year, a financial adjustment may be required where the level of service provided is above or below the agreed level.

The service agreement between the Department of Health and WBHHS specifies that the Department funds WBHHS’s depreciation and 
amortisation charges via non-cash revenue. The Department retains the cash to fund future major capital replacements. This transaction is 
shown in the Statement of Changes in Equity as a non-appropriated equity withdrawal. 

Revenue recognition for hospital fees, sales of goods and services, and pharmaceutical benefits scheme is based on either invoicing for related 
services and goods provided and/or the recognition of accrued revenue based on estimated volumes of goods or services delivered.

Note A1-2: Grants and other contributions 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Australian Government grants 
Specific purpose payments 3,712 3,515 

Total Australian Government grants 3,712 3,515 
Other grants 

Other grants 403 553
Donations - other 527 158

Total 4,642 4,226 

Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue in the year in which the WBHHS obtains 
control over them. Where grants are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is progressively recognised as it is earned, according to the 
terms of the funding arrangements. 

Contributed assets are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are recognised only if the services would have been purchased if 
they had not been donated and their fair value can be measured reliably.  Where this is the case, an equal amount is recognised as revenue 
and an expense. 
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A1 REVENUE (continued)

Note A1-3: Other revenue 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Contract staff recoveries 3,710 3,814 
General recoveries 1,052 391
Interest 45 56
Other revenue 221 220
Total 5,028 4,481 

Other revenue primarily reflects recoveries of payments for contracted staff from third parties such as universities and other government 
agencies as well as recoveries of insurance claims from the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). Revenue recognition for other 
revenue is based on either invoicing for related goods, services and/or the recognition of accrued revenue based on estimated volumes of 
goods or services delivered.

A2 EXPENSES 

Note A2-1: Employee expenses 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Employee benefits 
Wages and salaries 50,893 46,753 
Annual leave levy 3,320 3,124 
Employer superannuation contributions 3,913 3,333 
Long service leave levy 1,075 954

Employee related expenses 
Worker's compensation premium 876 811

Total 60,077 54,975 

Employee expenses represent the cost of engaging board members and the employment of health executives, Senior Medical and Visiting 
Medical Officers who are employed directly by WBHHS. 

WBHHS pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of its obligations for employee compensation. 

Workers’ compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not counted in an employee’s total remuneration package. 

Further accounting policies on employee expenses are stated in Note B6. 

2017 2016 
Number of WBHHS Employees (FTE) * 139 140

A2-2 Health Service Employees (FTE) 

In accordance with the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, the employees of the Department of Health are referred to as Health service 
employees. Under this arrangement –  

 The department provides employees to perform work for WBHHS and acknowledges and accepts it obligations as the employer of 
these employees; 

 WBHHS is responsible for the day to day management of these departmental employees; 

 WBHHS reimburses the department for the salaries and on-costs of these employees. 

WBHHS discloses the reimbursement of these costs as Health service employee expenses. 

2017 2016 
Number of Health Service Employees (FTE) * 2,837 2,783 

* The number of employees including both full-time employees and part-time employees, as at 30 June,  measured on a full-time equivalent 
basis (reflecting Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information (MOHRI)) is.  
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A2 EXPENSES (continued) 

Note A2-3: Supplies and services 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Clinical supplies and services 24,618 26,283 
Outsourced supplies and services 23,717 19,692 
Consultants and contractors# 18,903 23,416 
Drugs 23,106 20,654 
Pathology 11,344 10,822 
Repairs and maintenance including minor capital works 9,392 7,905 
Catering and domestic supplies 5,145 5,767 
Patient travel ## 18,351 17,568 
Other travel 2,220 2,561 
Electricity and other energy 5,169 4,688 
Operating lease rentals 4,038 3,853 
Motor vehicles 335 478
Communications 5,324 5,145 
Computer services 1,746 1,905 
Insurance 5,232 5,163 
Other 13,216 12,257 
Total 171,856 168,157 

# Consultants and contractors includes $11 million (2016 $16.8 million) for locum medical staff. 
## Includes payments for aeromedical services and ambulance fees $9.9 million (2016 $9.8 million). 

WBHHS receives corporate services support from the Department at no cost.  Corporate services received include payroll services, finance 
transactional services (including accounts payable), banking services, administrative services and taxation. 

WBHHS is insured under the Department of Health’s (DoH) insurance policy with the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF) and 
pays a fee to the DoH as a fee for service arrangement.  QGIF covers property and general losses above a $10,000 threshold and health 
litigation payments above a $20,000 threshold and associated legal fees.  Premiums are calculated on a risk assessment basis. 

Operating lease payments are representative of the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets. Payments made under operating leases 
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. WBHHS has no finance lease assets as at the reporting date. 

Note A2-4: Other expenses 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Inventory written off 167 44
Losses from the disposal of non-current assets 88 362
Special payments  58 96
Other legal costs 191 284
Journals and subscriptions 47 34
Advertising 124 171
Other # 275 410

950 1,401 

# Other includes audit fees paid or payable of $174 thousand to the Queensland Audit Office (2016: $174 thousand).  There are no non-audit 
services included in this amount. 

Occasionally WBHHS makes a special (ex-gratia) payment even though it is not contractually or legally obligated to make such payments to 
other parties. WBHHS maintains a register of all special payments greater than $5,000. This includes one payment made to a staff member 
relating to a compensation payment ($5.9k). 
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 NOTES ABOUT FINANCIAL POSITION B

B1 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Cash on hand 8 8
Cash at bank 3,678 (6,196)
General trust at call deposits* 1,306 1,348 
Total 4,992 (4,840)

Cash includes all cash on hand and in banks, cheques receipted but not banked at 30 June as well as all deposits at call with financial
institutions and cash debit facility.  

WBHHS’s bank accounts are grouped with the Whole of Government (WoG) set-off arrangement with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia.  As 
a result, WBHHS does not earn interest on surplus funds nor is it charged interest or fees for accessing its approved cash debit facility. Interest 
earned on the aggregate set-off arrangement balance accrues to the Consolidated Fund.  

General trust at call deposits do not form part of the WoG banking arrangement and incur fees as well as earn interest. Interest earned from 
general trust accounts is used in accordance with the terms of the trust.  These funds are held with the Queensland Treasury Corporation. 

* WBHHS receives cash contributions from external entities and other benefactors in the form of gifts, donations and bequests for specific 
purposes.  Contributions are also received from excess earnings from private practice clinicians under Granted Private Practice arrangements to 
provide for education, study and research in clinical areas.  At 30 June 2017, the amount of $1.31 million (2016: $1.35 million) was in General 
Trust.  Included in this was $516 thousand (2016: $559 thousand) for excess earnings from private practice clinicians. 

B2 RECEIVABLES 

Note B2-1: Trade and other receivables 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Trade receivables 6,306 7,683 
Less: Allowance for impairment (757) (354)

5,549 7,329 

GST input tax credits receivable 1,233 859
GST payable (75) (102)

1,158 757

Accrued health service funding 16,175 5,644 
Total 22,882 13,730 

Receivables are measured at their carrying value less any impairment, which approximates their fair value at reporting date. Trade receivables 
are initially recognised at the amount invoiced to customers for services provided with settlement being 30 days from invoice date.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date for receivables is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for 
impairment.

Throughout the year WBHHS assess whether there is objective evidence that a receivable is impaired or uncollectable on an ongoing basis.  
Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, class of debtor, changes in debtor credit ratings and default or delinquency in 
payments (more than 90 days overdue).   Where there is evidence that an amount will not be collected it is provided for and then written off. If 
receivables are subsequently recovered the amounts are credited against other expenses in the statement of comprehensive income when 
collected. 

The individually impaired receivables mainly related to overseas/ineligible patients.   
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B2 RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note B2-2: Impairment of Receivables 

(i) Disclosure - Ageing of impaired trade receivables 
2017 2016 

Gross
Receivables 

Allowance 
for

Impairment 
Carrying 
Amount 

Gross
Receivables 

Allowance 
for

Impairment 
Carrying 
Amount 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Overdue 
Not yet due 20,492 (14) 20,478 10,273 - 10,273 
Less than 30 days 1,056 (51) 1,005 1,476 - 1,476 
30 to 60 days 825 (56) 769 772 (23) 749
61 to 90 days 513 (182) 331 509 (20) 489
Greater than 90 days 753 (454) 299 1,054 (311) 743
Total overdue 23,639 (757) 22,882 14,084 (354) 13,730 

(ii) Disclosure - Movement in Allowance for Impairment for Impaired Receivables 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 354 358
Amounts written off during the year (202) (472) 
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in operating result 605 468
Balance at 30 June 757 354

B3 INVENTORIES

Inventories consist mainly of clinical supplies and pharmaceuticals held for distribution in hospital and health service facilities and are provided 
to public admitted patients free of charge except for pharmaceuticals which are provided at a subsidised rate.  Inventories are valued at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is assigned on a weighted average cost, adjusted where applicable, for any loss of service 
potential.
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B4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION 

Note B4-1: Property, Plant and Equipment - Balances and Reconciliations of Carrying Amount 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Reconciliation 

Land 
Level 2 

Buildings 
Level 3 

Plant and 
equipment 

Capital works 
in progress Total 

(at fair value) (at fair value) (at cost) (at cost) 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Year ended 30 June 2016 
Opening net book value 12,746 147,437 22,853 2,155 185,191 
Acquisitions - - 7,157 2,408 9,565 
Disposals - - (457) - (457) 
Transfers in/(out) - 33,747 (6) - 33,741 
Transfers between classes - 2,588 186 (2,774) -
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 2,334 (1,053) - - 1,281 
Depreciation charge for the year (10,452) (4,883) - (15,335) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2016 15,080 172,267 24,850 1,789 213,986 
At 30 June 2016 
At cost/fair value 15,080 383,919 50,019 1,789 450,807 
Accumulated depreciation - (211,652) (25,169) - (236,821) 

Year ended 30 June 2017 
Opening net book value 15,080 172,267 24,850 1,789 213,986 
Acquisitions - 305 5,436 5,388 11,129 
Disposals - (29) (120) - (149) 
Transfers in/(out) 110 985 (233) - 862
Transfers between classes - 1,654 - (1,654) -
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (219) 25,850 - - 25,631 
Depreciation charge for the year - (10,093) (4,751) - (14,844) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2017 14,971 190,939 25,182 5,523 236,615 
At 30 June 2017 
At cost/fair value 14,971 477,258 53,316 5,523 551,068 
Accumulated depreciation - (286,319) (28,134) - (314,453) 

Note B4-2: Accounting Policies 

Recognition thresholds for property, plant and equipment 

Items of a capital nature with a cost or other value equal to or more than the following thresholds and with a useful life of more than one year are 
recognised at acquisition. Items below these values are expensed. 

Class Threshold 
Buildings and Land  Improvements $10,000 
Land $1 
Plant and Equipment $5,000 

WBHHS has a comprehensive annual maintenance program for its buildings. Expenditure is only capitalised if it increases the service potential 
or useful life of the existing asset. Maintenance expenditure that merely restores original service potential (arising from ordinary wear and tear) 
is expensed. 

Acquisition of Assets 

Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current physical asset acquisitions.  Cost is determined as the value given as consideration 
plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use.  Any training costs are expensed as 
incurred. 

Where assets are received free of charge from another Queensland Government entity (whether as a result of a machinery-of-Government 
change or other involuntary transfer), the acquisition cost is recognised at the gross carrying amount in the books of the transferor immediately 
prior to the transfer together with any accumulated depreciation. 

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than from an involuntary transfer from another Queensland Government entity, 
are recognised at their fair value at date of acquisition in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment. 
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B4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued)
Subsequent measurement of property, plant and equipment 

Land and buildings are subsequently measured at fair value as required by Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset Policies for the 
Queensland Public Sector.  These assets are reported at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation, less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses where applicable. The cost of items acquired during the 
financial year has been judged by management to materially represent their fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

Plant and equipment is measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses in accordance with 
Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. The carrying amounts for such plant and equipment 
at cost is not materially different from their fair value. 

Depreciation  

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis progressively over its estimated useful life to the HHS. Land is not 
depreciated. Assets under construction (work-in-progress) are not depreciated until they are ready for use. 

Key Judgement: Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the 
new depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset to the department.  

Key Estimate: Management estimates the useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment based on the expected period 
of time over which economic benefits from use of the asset will be derived. Management reviews useful life assumptions on an annual 
basis having given consideration to variables including historical and forecast usage rates, technological advancements and changes in 
legal and economic conditions. WBHHS has assigned nil residual values to all depreciable assets. 

For each class of depreciable assets, the following depreciation rates were used: 

Class Depreciation rates 
Buildings (including land 
improvements) 

1.0% - 5.88% 

Plant and Equipment 3.3% - 20.0% 

Impairment of non-current assets 

Key Judgement and Estimate: All non-current physical assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis.  If an 
indicator of possible impairment exists, management determines the asset's recoverable amount.  Any amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. 

The asset's recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount.  When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus of the 
relevant class to the extent available. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income, unless the asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

Revaluations of non-current physical assets 

The fair value of land and buildings are assessed on an annual basis by an independent professional expert or by the use of appropriate
and relevant indices.  For financial reporting purposes, the revaluation process for WBHHS is managed by the Finance Unit with input from the 
CFO. The Building, Engineering, Maintenance Service (BEMS) Unit provides assistance to the quantity surveyors. The appointment of the 
independent expert was undertaken through a standing offer arrangement across for Queensland State Government agencies.   

The fair values reported by WBHHS are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximises the use of available and relevant observable 
inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. 

Revaluations using independent professional experts are undertaken at least once every five years. However, if a particular asset class 
experiences significant and volatile changes in fair value, that class is subject to specific appraisal in the reporting period, where 
practicable, regardless of the timing of the last specific appraisal. 

Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, their previous valuations are materially kept up-to-date via the 
application of relevant indices.  WBHHS uses indices to provide a valid estimation of the assets' fair values at reporting date.

The expert supplies the indices used for the various types of assets.  Such indices are either publicly available, or are derived from market 
information available to the expert.  The expert provides assurance of their robustness, validity and appropriateness for application to the 
relevant assets.  Indices used are also tested for reasonableness by applying the indices to a sample of assets, comparing the results to 
similar assets that have been valued by the expert, and analysing the trend of changes in values over time. Through this process, which is  
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B4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued)
undertaken annually, management assesses and confirms the relevance and suitability of indices provided by the expert based on the 
entity’s own particular circumstances.

Revaluation increments are credited to the asset revaluation surplus account of the appropriate class, except to the extent it reverses a 
revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense.  In that case it is recognised as income.  A decrease in the 
carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus relating to 
that asset class. 

WBHHS has adopted the gross method of reporting revalued assets. 

Note B4-3: Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment including Key Estimates and Judgements 

Land 

During the 2016-17 year WBHHS engaged the services of the State Valuation Service (SVS) to provide an assessment of any movement
in land prices via indices. The last comprehensive valuation of land was undertaken by SVS in the 2015-16 year. 

The fair value of land was based on publicly available data on sales of similar land in nearby localities prior to the date of the revaluation. 
In determining the values, adjustments were made to the sales data to take into account the location of the HHS’s land, its size, street/road 
frontage and access, and any significant restrictions.  The extent of the adjustments made varies in significance for each parcel of land. 

The valuations for 2016-17 resulted in a revaluation decrement of $219k to the carrying value of land (2016: $2.33 million increment).

Buildings 

A new 4 year rolling building valuation program was developed during 2015-16 based on major geographical locations of building and land 
improvement assets (i.e. Maryborough, Bundaberg, Hervey Bay and Rurals). As a result of this program, all buildings and land 
improvement assets with a cost threshold of $500,000 (representing 97% of the NBV of asset class) will be comprehensively valued over a 
4 year period.  WBHHS has engaged independent quantity surveyors, AECOM (formerly Davis Langdon), to undertake the building 
valuations. 

In 2017 the rural facilities building and land improvement assets were valued, reflecting 15% of the NBV of the building portfolio. As 
AECOM refined their valuation methodology (outlined below) this required a desktop valuation of all buildings previously valued by 
AECOM (representing 83% of the NBV of the building portfolio) to ensure the asset class as a whole was valued in accordance with the 
change in methodology.  Those buildings which were not subject to comprehensive or desktop valuation (accounting for 2% of the NBV of 
the building portfolio) were subject to a review through the use of indices.   

Reflecting the specialised nature of health service buildings and on hospital-site residential facilities, for which there is no active market, 
fair value is determined using the current replacement cost methodology. Current replacement cost is a valuation technique that reflects 
the amount that would be required today to replace the service capacity of an asset. Current replacement cost is calculated as 
replacement cost less adjustments for obsolescence.  To determine the replacement cost, the lowest cost that would be incurred today, to 
replace the existing building with a modern equivalent, is assessed. The valuation assumes a modern equivalent building will comply with 
current legislation (e.g. building code) and provide the same service function and form (shape and size) as the original building but with 
more contemporary design, materials, safety standards and construction approaches. This value is also compared against current 
construction contracts for reasonableness. 

The replacement cost of an asset is adjusted for obsolescence. There are three types of obsolescence factored into current replacement 
cost, functional, economic and physical. Functional and economic obsolescence are adjustments to the gross value of the asset. This 
adjustment reflects the value embodied in components of a modern equivalent building that are either not present in the existing asset or 
that are inefficient or inadequate relative to a modern equivalent building due to technological developments or other external factors. 

Physical obsolescence is time based and is therefore reflected in the calculation of accumulated depreciation. This adjustment reflects the 
loss in value of the building caused by factors such as wear and tear, physical stressors and other environmental factors. Physical 
obsolescence is calculated as straight line depreciation, that is, the replacement cost depreciated over the total useful life of the asset. The 
total useful life of the asset is a combination of expired useful life and an estimate of remaining useful life.

The independent valuation for 2016-17 resulted in a net increment to the building portfolio of $25.85 million (2016: $1.05 million 
decrement) and to the asset revaluation surplus account. This is an increase of 16% to the fair value of buildings as at 30 June 2017. This 
includes both rural facilities comprehensively revalued, and other material buildings subject to a desktop valuation assessment.   No 
adjustment was made to the remainder of buildings not subject to independent valuation or desktop valuation due to the index rate of 1% 
being determined by AECOM, which indicated no movement in those values.  

Change in accounting estimate - buildings and improvements 

During the year, WBHHS reassessed its valuation methodology, as outlined above, particularly surrounding the calculation of 
obsolescence. WBHHS previously linked obsolescence to the condition of the building as assessed by the independent expert. Once a 
condition rating for the relevant asset was determined, an adjustment factor was applied to replacement cost to calculate the fair value.
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B4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued)
In the current period, WBHHS has elected to specifically identify elements of a modern equivalent building which are not present in the 
existing building or that are inefficient or inadequate compared to a modern equivalent building. WBHHS believes this estimation provides 
more accurate and relevant information to the users of its financial statements and is more aligned to practices adopted across the health 
sector.

WBHHS has applied the change prospectively.  It is impractical to determine the exact portion of the revaluation increment which is 
attributable to the change in accounting estimate. The change had no impact on the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Note B4-4: Accounting Policies and Basis for Fair Value Measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether the price is directly derived from observable inputs or 
estimated using another valuation technique. 

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued, and include, but 
are not limited to, published sales data for land. 

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the characteristics of the 
assets/liabilities being valued.   Significant unobservable inputs used by WBHHS include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments 
made to observable data to take account of the specialised nature of health service buildings and on hospital-site residential facilities, 
including historical and current construction contracts (and/or estimates of such costs), and assessments of physical condition and 
remaining useful life.  Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable inputs are not available 
for similar assets/liabilities. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefit by using 
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

All assets and liabilities of WBHHS for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals: 

Level 1 Represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical 
assets and liabilities; 

Level 2 Represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than quoted prices included 
in level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 Represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs. 

None of WBHHS’s valuations of assets are eligible for categorisation into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy and there were no transfer of 
assets between fair value hierarchy levels during the period.  

Note B4-5: Categorisation of Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Land - Level 2 14,971 15,080 
Buildings - Level 3 190,939 172,267 
Total 205,910 187,347 
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B5 PAYABLES 

2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Trade creditors 3,491 3,036 
Accrued expenses 10,661 11,402 
Department of Health payables 11,221 9,440 
Total 25,373 23,878 

Payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services already received. Trade creditors are measured at the 
agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts.  The amounts are unsecured and normally settled within 30 - 60 
days. Trade and accruals are presented as current liabilities as payment is due within 12 months from the reporting date.  

B6 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
Wages, salaries and sick leave 

Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at current salary rates. As WBHHS 
expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at undiscounted amounts. 

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue 
in future periods.  Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick 
leave entitlements is recognised.  As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken. 

Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not counted in an employee's total remuneration package.  
It is not an employee benefit and is recognised separately as employee related expenses. 

Annual and long service leave 

Under the Queensland Government’s Annual Leave Central Scheme and Long Service Leave Central Scheme, levies are payable to cover the 
cost of employees’ annual leave (including leave loading and on-costs) and long service leave. No provision for annual leave and long service 
leave is recognised in WBHHS’s financial statements as a liability is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial 
statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. These levies are expensed in 
the period in which they are paid or payable. Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long service leave are claimed from the schemes 
quarterly in arrears.  

Superannuation 

Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, at rates
determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State Actuary.  Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable and 
WBHHS’s obligation is limited to its contribution to QSuper.  The QSuper scheme has defined benefit and defined contribution categories.  The 
liability for defined benefits is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of 
Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. 

Board members and Visiting Medical Officers are offered a choice of superannuation funds and WBHHS pays superannuation contributions into 
a complying superannuation fund.  Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable.  WBHHS's obligation is limited to 
its contribution to the superannuation fund. Therefore no liability is recognised for accruing superannuation benefits in the Hospital and Health 
Service's financial statements. 
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B7 UNEARNED REVENUE 

Note B7: Unearned revenue 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Unearned revenue 9,184 284
Total 9,184 284

When there is an obligation to deliver services in consideration of funding received, it is recognised as a liability until the service has been 
delivered according to the terms of the Service Agreement. As at 30 June 2017 revenue received in advance primarily consisted of
amounts received under the service agreement with the DoH for which the underlying service obligation was yet to be satisfied.  This 
partially offsets the accrued funding owing to the HHS from the DoH at 30 June 2017 for services performed but funding not yet received 
(refer note B2-1). 

B8 EQUITY 

Note B8-1: Contributed Equity 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Opening balance at beginning of year 200,387 172,774 
Non-appropriated equity injections 

Capital funding 9,085 9,211 
Non-appropriated equity withdrawals 

Non-cash depreciation funding returned to Department of Health as a contribution towards capital 
works program (14,864) (15,339) 
Equity asset transfers 

Land 110 -
Buildings 985 33,747 
Other (233) (6) 

Balance at the end of the financial year 195,470 200,387 

Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly-owned Queensland State Public Sector entities as a result of machinery-
of-government changes are adjusted to contributed equity in accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to 
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities. Appropriations for equity adjustments are similarly designated. 

WBHHS receives funding from DoH to cover depreciation costs. However, as depreciation is a non-cash expenditure item, the Minister of 
Health has approved a withdrawal of equity by the State for the same amount, resulting in non-cash revenue and non-cash equity 
withdrawal.

Note B8-2: Asset revaluation surplus 
2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Land 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2,334 -
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (219) 2,334 

2,115 2,334 
Buildings 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 12,720 13,773 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 25,850 (1,053) 

38,570 12,720 

Balance at the end of the financial year 40,685 15,055 
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 NOTES ABOUT RISK AND OTHER ACCOUNTING UNCERTAINTIES C

C1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Note C1: Financial instrument categories 
2017 2016 

Category Note $'000 $'000
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents B1 4,992 (4,840)
Receivables B2-1 22,882 13,730 
Total 27,874 8,890 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - comprising: 
Payables B5 25,373 23,878 
Total 25,373 23,878 

WBHHS measures risk exposure using a variety of methods as follows: 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss arising from a counterparty defaulting on its obligations. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 
balance date is equal to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset, inclusive of any allowance for impairment.  

The carrying amount of financial assets, which are disclosed in more detail in notes B1 and B2, represent the maximum exposure to credit risk 
at the reporting date.  

No financial assets have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or impaired and are stated at the carrying 
amounts as indicated.  

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.  

Major receivables comprise Department of Health ($17.4 million), Health Funds ($4.5 million), other external debtors ($950 thousand). 

Overall credit risk for the HHS is considered minimal. 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that WBHHS will not have the resources required at a particular time to meet its obligations to settle its financial 
liabilities. 

WBHHS is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. WBHHS aims to reduce the exposure to liquidity
risk by ensuring that sufficient funds are available to meet employee and supplier obligations at all times.  

Under the whole-of-government banking arrangements, WBHHS has an approved working debt facility of $5 million (2016: $5 million) to 
manage any short-term cash shortfalls.  This facility has not been drawn down as at 30 June 2017.  WBHHS also has access to advance 
funding from the Department of Health to meet its obligations.  

Due to the short-term nature (less than 12 months) of the current payables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate the total 
contractual cash flow. 

(c) Interest rate risk 

WBHHS is exposed to interest rate risk on its cash deposited in interest bearing accounts with Queensland Treasury Corporation.

WBHHS does not undertake any hedging in relation to interest rate risk. 

Changes in interest rate have a minimal effect on the operating result of WBHHS. 

(d) Fair value measurements 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. All other financial assets or liabilities are measured at cost less any allowance for 
impairment, which given the short term nature of these assets, is assumed to represent fair value.  
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C2 CONTINGENCIES  
Litigation in progress 

As at 30 June 2017, the following cases were filed in the courts naming the State of Queensland acting through the Wide Bay Hospital and 
Health Service as defendant: 

2017 2016 
Number of 

cases 
Number of  

cases 

Supreme Court 2 -
District Court  3 2
Magistrates Court - -
Tribunals, Commissions and Boards 1 1

6 3

Health litigation is underwritten by the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). WBHHS’s liability in this area is limited to an excess 
per insurance event of $20 thousand. As at 30 June 2017, WBHHS has 36 claims currently managed by QGIF, some of which may never be 
litigated or result in payments to claims (excluding initial notices under Personal Injuries Proceedings Act). 

It is not possible to make a reliable estimate for the final amount payable, if any, in respect of the litigation before the courts at this time. 

Investigations into Non-conforming Building Products 

The Queensland Government has established a dedicated taskforce to determine the existence of, and develop a response strategy regarding, 
non-conforming building products (particularly around aluminium composite panelling) on Queensland Government owned buildings and non-
government owned buildings.  At the time of certification of the financial statements, initial verbal advice received is that there is minimal risk to 
WBHHS buildings.  Formal advice on the outcome will be received during 2017-18. 

C3 COMMITMENTS 
(a) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

WBHHS has non-cancellable operating leases relating predominantly to office and residential accommodation. Lease payments are generally 
fixed, but with escalation clauses on which contingent rentals are determined. No lease arrangements contain restrictions on financing or other 
leasing activities. 

Commitment for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: 

2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Operating Leases 
No later than 1 year 1,984 1,715 
Later than 1 year but no later than 5 years 1,346 2,618 
Later than 5 years - -
Total 3,330 4,333 

(b) Capital expenditure commitments 

Commitments for capital expenditure contracted for at reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements are payable as follows: 

2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Plant and Equipment 
No later than 1 year 233 544
Later than 1 year but no later than 5 years - -
Later than 5 years - -
Total 233 544
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 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL D

D1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 
Key management personnel 

As from  2016-17, the Minister for Health is identified as part of WBHHS KMP, consistent with additional guidance included in the revised 
version of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.  The responsible Minister is Hon Cameron Dick, Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance 
Services. 

The following details for key executive management personnel include those positions that had authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of WBHHS during 2016-17.   Further information on these positions can be found in the body of the Annual 
Report under the section relating to Executive Management. 

Position Name Contract classification/ appointment 
authority 

Initial
appointment  
date 

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service Board  
Non-executive Board Chair- 
Provides strategic leadership, guidance and effective 
oversight of management, operations and financial 
performance.

Dominic Devine  Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 25 (1) (a) 

14/06/2013 

Resignation: 
24/10/2016 

Peta Jamieson Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 25 (1) (a) 

15/12/2016 

Board Member - Hospital and Health Boards Act 
2011 
Section 23 (1) 

26/06/2015 

Deputy Board Chair - 
Provide strategic leadership, guidance and effective 
oversight of management, operations and financial 
performance. 

Barbara Hovard  Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 25 (1) (b) 

29/06/2012 

Term Concluded: 
17/5/2017 

Non-executive Board Member - Provide strategic 
leadership, guidance and effective oversight of 
management, operations and financial performance.

Gary Kirk 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

1/06/2012 

Term Concluded: 
17/5/2017 

Joy Jensen Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2013 

Paul Dare 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2013 

Term Concluded: 
17/5/2017 

Christopher Hyne 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2013 

Term Concluded: 
17/5/2017 

George Plint Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2014 

Bryan Burmeister Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2014 

Karen Prentis Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2017 

Anita Brown Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2017 

Trevor Dixon Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2017 

Simone Xouris Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2017 

Emeritus Professor 
Phillip Clift 

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
Section 23 (1) 

18/05/2017 

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service Executives 
Chief Executive – Responsible for the overall leadership 
and management of the Wide Bay Hospital and Health 
Service to ensure that it meets its strategic and 
operational objectives. The Chief Executive is the single 
point of accountability for ensuring patient safety through 
the effective executive leadership and management of all 
hospital and health services. This position is accountable 
to the Hospital and Health Board for ensuring the HHS 
achieves a balance between efficient service delivery and 
high-quality health outcomes.  

Adrian Pennington s24 & s70 Appointed by Board under Hospital and 
Health Board Act 2011 (Section 7 (3)) 

10/09/2012 
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D1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)
Position Name Contract classification/ appointment 

authority 
Initial
appointment 
date 

Executive Director Clinical Governance - Reports to 
the Chief Executive and responsible for the strategic and 
professional leadership of the Clinical Governance Unit, 
including oversight of professional quality standards, 
education and training. As Deputy Chief Executive, acts 
for the Chief Executive as required.  

Dr Pieter Pike MMOI2 Appointed under Medical Officer 
(Queensland Health) Certified Agreement (No.4) 
2015 (MOCA 4) 

5/08/2013 

Resignation: 
29/01/2017 

Chief Operations Officer - Reports to the Chief 
Executive and responsible for the strategic and 
professional leadership of the Clinical Governance Unit, 
including oversight of professional quality standards, 
education and training. As Deputy Chief Executive, acts 
for the Chief Executive as required.  

Debbie Carroll HES3 Appointed by Chief Executive (CE) under 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

2/12/2014 

Executive Director Finance & Performance - Reports 
to the Chief Executive and provides single-point 
accountability for the Finance and Performance Division. 
Co-ordinates WBHHS's financial management, consistent 
with the relevant legislation and policy directions to 
support high-quality healthcare within WBHHS. 

Scott McConnel HES2 Appointed by Chief Executive (CE) under 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

7/12/2015 

Geoff Evans HES2 Appointed by Chief Executive (CE) under 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

19/09/2011 
Resignation: 
30/09/2015 

Executive Director Human Resources - Reports to the 
Chief Executive and responsible for the strategic and 
professional leadership of all WBHHS’s Human Resource 
services. Liaises with local and state-wide stakeholders to 
ensure compliance with all legislative requirements, 
awards and directions of the government as they apply to 
the HHS.  

Peter Heinz HES2 Appointed by Chief Executive (CE) under 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

30/03/2016 

Executive Director Mental Health, Alcohol & Other 
Drug Services - Reports to the Chief Executive and 
responsible for the strategic and professional leadership 
of WBHHS’s Mental Health, Alcohol and Other Drugs 
Service. Ensures compliance with legislative 
requirements in providing high-quality inpatient, outpatient 
and community care. Works in partnership with external 
service providers and primary health organisations to 
provide targeted service delivery that reflects community 
need.   

Robyn Bradley HES2 Appointed by Chief Executive (CE) under 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

23/11/2015 

District Director Medical Services - Reports to the 
Chief Executive and responsible for strategic, 
professional and quality leadership of the WBHHS 
medical workforce, including oversight of medical 
recruitment and credentialing. Liaises with state-wide 
stakeholders to ensure compliance with legislative 
requirements. 

Greg Coffey MMOI2 Appointed under Medical Officer 
(Queensland Health) Certified Agreement (No.4) 
2015 (MOCA 4) 

02/02/2013 

Executive Director of Nursing and Midwifery Services 
- Reports to the Chief Executive and responsible for 
strategic, professional and quality leadership of the 
WBHHS nursing workforce, including rural, offsite, 
community nursing services and education and training. 
Liaises with state-wide stakeholders to ensure 
compliance with legislative requirements. 

Fiona Sewell NRG13-2 Appointed under Nurses and Midwives 
(Queensland Health) Certified Agreement (EB8) 
2012 

06/07/2015 

Executive Director Governance, Strategy and 
Planning - Reports to the Chief Executive and 
responsible for integrated governance, including clinical 
governance functions such as patient safety, consumer 
feedback, quality and accreditation, and corporate 
governance functions such as risk management, policy, 
compliance, education, research, strategic and 
operational planning. 

Katrina Mathies 
(Acting) 

DSO 1-2  Appointed under Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011

27/02/2017 
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D1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)
KMP remuneration policies 

Minister remuneration 

Ministerial remuneration entitlements are outlined in the Legislative Assembly of Queensland’s Members’ Remuneration Handbook. WBHHS
does not bear any cost of remuneration of the Minister. The majority of Ministerial entitlements are paid by the Legislative Assembly, with the 
remaining entitlements being provided by Ministerial Services Branch within the Department of the Premier and Cabinet. As all Ministers are 
reported as KMP of the Queensland Government, aggregate remuneration expenses for all Ministers is disclosed in the Queensland General 
Government and Whole of Government Consolidated Financial Statements as from 2016-17, which are published as part of Queensland
Treasury’s Report on State Finances. 

Key management personnel remuneration – Board 

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service is independently and locally controlled by the Hospital and Health Board (The Board). The Board 
appoints the Health Service Chief Executive and exercises significant responsibilities at a local level, including controlling the financial 
management of Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service land and building (section 7 Hospital and Health Board Act 2011). 

Remuneration arrangement for the Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service are approved by the Governor in Council and the chair, deputy chair 
and members are paid an annual fee consistent with the government procedures titled ‘Remuneration procedures for part-time chairs and 
members of Queensland Government bodies’. 

Remuneration paid or owing to board members was as follows: 

Name 

Short Term Employee Expenses Post
employment 

benefits 
Total 

remuneration 
Monetary 
benefits  

Non-monetary 
benefits  

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2016-2017 
Dominic Devine  32 - 4 36
Peta Jamieson  72 - 7 79
Barbara Hovard 48 - 5 53
Gary Kirk 48 - 4 52
Joy Jensen 52 - 5 57
Paul Dare 47 - 5 52
Christopher Hyne 45 - 5 50
George Plint 49 - 5 54
Bryan Burmeister 47 - 5 52
Karen Prentis 5 - 1 6
Anita Brown 5 - 1 6
Trevor Dixon 5 - 1 6
Simone Xouris 5 - 1 6
Emeritus Professor Phillip Clift - - - -

Name 

Short Term Employee Expenses Post
employment 

benefits 
Total 

remuneration 
Monetary 
benefits  

Non-monetary 
benefits  

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2015-2016 
Dominic Devine  84 - 8 92
Peta Jamieson  42 - 4 46
Barbara Hovard 48 - 4 52
Gary Kirk 49 - 5 54
Joy Jensen 48 - 4 52
Paul Dare 54 - 4 58
Christopher Hyne 48 - 4 52
George Plint 43 - 4 47
Bryan Burmeister 41 - 5 46
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D1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)
Key management personnel remuneration – Executive Team  

Section 74 of the Hospital and Health Board Act 2011 provides the contract of employment for health executive staff must state the term of 
employment, the person's functions and any performance criteria as well as the person's classification level and remuneration package. Section 
76 of the Act provides the Chief Executive authority to fix the remuneration packages for health executives, classification levels and terms and 
conditions having regard to remuneration packages for public sector employees in Queensland or other States and remuneration arrangements 
for employees employed privately in Queensland. 

Remuneration policy for the Service's key executive management personnel is set by direct engagement common law employment contracts.  
The remuneration and other terms of employment for the key executive management personnel are also addressed by these common law
employment contracts. The contracts provide for other benefits including motor vehicles and expense payments such as rental or loan 
repayments. 

Remuneration packages for key executive management personnel comprise the following components: 

 Short-term employee benefits which include: 

 Base – consisting of base salary, allowances and leave entitlements paid and provided for the entire year or for that part of the year 
during which the employee occupied the specified position.  Amounts disclosed equal the amount expensed in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

 Non-monetary benefits – consisting of provision of vehicle and expense payments together with fringe benefits tax applicable to the 
benefit.

 Long term employee benefits include long service leave accrued. 

 Post-employment benefits include superannuation contributions. 

 Redundancy payments are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide only for notice
periods or payment in lieu on termination, regardless of the reason for termination. 

 Performance bonuses are not paid under the contracts in place. 

Total fixed remuneration is calculated on a ‘total cost’ basis and includes the base and non-monetary benefits, long term employee benefits and 
post-employment benefits. 

Remuneration paid or owing to executives was as follows: 

Name 

Short Term Employee 
Expenses 

Long term 
benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Termination 

benefits 
Total 

remuneration 
Monetary 
benefits  

Non-monetary 
benefits  

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2016-2017 

Adrian Pennington 334 66 6 28 - 434
Pieter Pike 268 - 5 18 - 291
Debbie Carroll 228 3 4 22 - 257
Scott McConnel 198 - 4 20 - 222
Peter Heinz 197 3 4 17 - 221
Robyn Bradley 196 - 4 19 - 219
Greg Coffey 548 1 11 37 - 597
Katrina Mathies 57 - 1 7 - 65
Fiona Sewell 211 - 4 22 - 237
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D1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)

Name 

Short Term Employee 
Expenses 

Long term 
benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Termination 

benefits  
Total 

remuneration 
Monetary 
benefits  

Non-
monetary 
benefits  

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2015-2016 

Adrian Pennington 326 67 7 36 - 436
Pieter Pike 509 - 10 37 - 556
Debbie Carroll 238 10 5 23 - 276
Scott McConnel 113 - 2 11 - 126
Geoff Evans 53 - 1 4 1 59
Peter Heinz 159 14 3 18 - 194
Robyn Bradley 192 - 4 15 - 211
Greg Coffey 530 1 10 36 - 577
Fiona Sewell 230 6 4 22 - 262

D2 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Transactions with Queensland Government controlled entities 

WBHHS is controlled by its ultimate parent entity, the State of Queensland. All State of Queensland controlled entities meet the definition of a 
related party in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. 

Department of Health 
WBHHS receives funding in accordance with a service agreement with the Department of Health. The Department of Health receives its
revenue from the Queensland Government (majority of funding) and the Commonwealth. WBHHS is funded for eligible services through block 
funding; activity based funding or a combination of both. Activity based funding is based on an agreed number of activities per the service 
agreement and a state-wide price by which relevant activities are funded Block funding is not based on levels of public care activity.  

The funding from Department of Health is provided predominantly for specific public health services purchased by the Department from WBHHS 
in accordance with a service agreement between the Department and WBHHS. The service agreement is reviewed periodically and updated for 
changes in activities and prices of services delivered by Hospital and Health Service.  

The signed service agreements are published on the Queensland Government website and publically available. The 2016-17 service agreement
was for $542 million.  

In addition to the provision of corporate services support (refer Note A2), the Department of Health provides other services including
procurement and information technology infrastructure and support.  Any expenses paid by Department of Health on behalf of WBHHS for these 
services are recouped by the Department of Health. 

There are a number of other transactions which occur between WBHHS and other Queensland State Government related entities.  These
transactions include, but are not limited to, rent paid to the Department of Housing and Public Works for a number of properties and insurance 
premiums paid to the Queensland Government Insurance Fund. These transactions are made in the ordinary course of WBHHS business and 
are on standard commercial terms and conditions. 

Inter HHS 
Payments to and receipts from other Hospital and Health Services occur to facilitate the transfer of patients, drugs, staff and other incidentals. 

Other 
There are no other individually significant transactions with related parties. 
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D2 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Transactions with other related parties 

A company, of which a KMP is a board member, provides services to WBHHS in the form of Cardiac and Pulmonary rehabilitation programs for 
referred patients from Bundaberg Hospital.  The current contract was for the period 1/7/2014 to 30/06/2017.  The cost of these services during 
2016-17 was $403,541.    An option to extend the services for a further year to 30/06/2018 was endorsed by the Board at the May 2017 Board 
meeting to ensure continuity of services to patients in 2017-18,  with a new procurement process to be completed during the 2017-18 financial 
year. 

All other transactions in the year ended 30 June 2017 between WBHHS and key management personnel, including their related parties were on 
normal commercial terms and conditions and were immaterial in nature. 
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 OTHER INFORMATION E

E1 GRANTED PRIVATE PRACTICE 
WBHHS acts as a billing agency for medical practitioners who use WBHHS’s facilities for the purpose of seeing patients under a Grant of 
Private Practice agreement (GOPP). Under this agreement, WBHHS deducts from private patient fees received, a service fee (where
applicable) to cover the use of the facilities and administrative support provided to the medical practitioner. 

2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Receipts 
Billings - (Doctors and Visiting Medical Officers) 7,494 10,714 
Interest 12 10
Total receipts 7,506 10,724 

Payments 
Payments to Doctors 226 250
Payments to HHS under assignment model 6,994 10,127 
Hospital and Health Service recoverable administrative costs 137 141
Hospital and Health Service SERTA fund - -
Total payments 7,357 10,518 

Closing balance of bank account under a trust fund arrangement not yet disbursed and not 
restricted cash 482 332

E2 FIDUCIARY TRUST TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 
WBHHS acts in a fiduciary trust capacity in relation to patient trust accounts.  Consequently these transactions and balances are not recognised 
in the financial statements but are disclosed below for information purposes.  Although patient funds are not controlled by WBHHS, trust 
activities are included in the audit performed annually by the Auditor-General of Queensland. 

2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Patient Trust receipts and payments 
Receipts 
Receipts from patients 89 139
Total receipts 89 139

Payments 
Payments to patients 108 117
Total payments 108 117

Patient trust assets opening balance 57 35
Increase/decrease in net patient trust assets (19) 22
Patient trust assets closing balance 38 57

Patient trust assets 
Current assets 
Patient Trust cash at bank 38 57
Total 38 57
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E3 RESTRICTED ASSETS 
WBHHS holds a number of General Trust accounts which meet the definitions of restricted assets. These accounts require that the associated 
income is only utilised for the purposes specified by the issuing body. 

WBHHS receives cash contributions from benefactors in the form of gifts, donations and bequests for specific purposes. Contributions are also 
received from private practice clinicians and from external entities to provide for education, study and research in clinical areas.

2017 2016 
$'000 $'000

Restricted assets 
Opening balance  1,306 1,611 
Income 535 172
Expenditure 545 477
Closing balance  1,296 1,306 

E4 TAXATION 
WBHHS is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempt from Commonwealth taxation with the 
exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and Services Tax (GST). FBT and GST are the only Commonwealth taxes recognised
by WBHHS.  

Both WBHHS and the Department of Health satisfy section 149-25(e) of the A New Tax System (Goods and Services) Act 1999 (Cth) (the 
GST Act) and were able, with other hospital and health services, to form a “group” for GST purposes under Division 149 of the GST Act. 
This means that any transactions between the members of the "group" do not attract GST. 

E5 FIRST YEAR APPLICATION OF NEW STANDARDS OR CHANGE IN POLICY 

Changes in accounting policy

WBHHS did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2016-17. 

Accounting standards early adopted for 2016-17 

No Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for the 2016-17 financial year.   

Accounting Standards Applied for the First Time in 2016-17 

The only Australian Accounting Standard that became effective for the first time in 2016-17 is AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures. This standard requires note disclosures about the relationships between a parent entity and its controlled entities, 
Key Management Personnel, (KMP) remuneration expenses and other related party transactions, and does not impact on 
financial statement line items.  WBHHS previously disclosed KMP remuneration expenses under Queensland Treasury’s 
Financial Reporting Requirements. As a result there was minimal impact on WBHHS’s KMP remuneration disclosures compared 
to 2015-16 (refer to Note D1). However, the standard has resulted in Queensland Health’s responsible Minister being identified 
as part of WBHHS’s KMP as from 2016-17. Material related party transactions for 2016-17 are disclosed in Note D2. No 
comparative information about related party transactions is required in respect of 2015-16.  
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E6 FUTURE IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended Australian Accounting Standards issued but 
with future effective dates are set out below: 

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107  

This standard will become effective from the reporting period beginning 1 July 2017. This Standard will require additional disclosures to 
enable the reader to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. These disclosures will include both cash flows and non-
cash changes between the opening and closing balance of the relevant liabilities and be disclosed by way of reconciliation in the notes to 
the Statement of Cash Flows.  The impact of this standard has not been assessed at this time. 

AASB 1058 Income from Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This Standard will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  While the HHS has not yet assessed the 
actual impact of these changes, the potential impacts include the following: 

Under the new standards, other grants presently recognised as revenue upfront may be eligible to be recognised as revenue progressively 
as the associated performance obligations are satisfied, but only if the associated performance obligations are enforceable and sufficiently 
specific. WBHHS is yet to evaluate the existing grant arrangements to determine whether revenue from those grants could be deferred 
under the new requirements; 

Grants that are not enforceable and/or not sufficiently specific will not qualify for deferral, and continue to be recognised as revenue as 
soon as they are controlled. WBHHS receives several grants for which there are no sufficiently specific performance obligations, so these 
grants will continue to be recognised as revenue upfront, assuming no change to the current grant arrangements; 

Depending on the respective contractual terms, the new requirements may potentially result in a change to the timing of WBHHS revenue 
such that some revenue may need to be deferred to a later reporting period to the extent that WBHHS has received cash but has not met 
its associated obligations (such amounts would be reported as a liability in the meantime). WBHHS is yet to complete its analysis of 
existing arrangements but at this stage does not expect a significant impact on its present accounting practices; and 

A range of new disclosures will also be required by the new standards in respect of WBHHS revenue. 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2014) 

These Standards will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2018.  

The main impacts of these standards on the HHS are that they will change the requirements for the classification, measurement, 
impairment and disclosures associated with the HHS’s financial assets.  AASB 9 will introduce different criteria for whether financial assets 
can be measured at amortised cost or fair value. 

Another impact of AASB 9 relates to calculating impairment losses for WBHHS's receivables. Assuming no substantial change in the
nature of WBHHS's receivables, as they don't include a significant financing component, impairment losses will be determined according 
to the amount of the lifetime expected credit losses. On initial adoption of AASB 9, WBHHS will need to determine the expected credit 
losses for its receivables comparing the credit risk at that time to the credit risk that existed. 

WBHHS will not need to restate comparative figures for financial instruments on adopting AASB 9, however, changed disclosure 
requirements will apply. A number of one-off disclosures will be required in the 2018-19 financial statements to explain the impact of 
adopting AASB 9. Assuming no change in the types of financial instruments that WBHHS enters into, the most likely ongoing disclosure 
impacts are expected to relate to the credit risk of financial assets subject to impairment. 

WBHHS is yet to fully assess the impact of these standards, however, given the nature of and limited extent of financial instruments held, 
the impact is expected to be minimal.  

AASB 16 Leases 

AASB 16 Leases will become effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and will replace AASB 117 Leases, 
AASB Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, AASB Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – Incentives
and AASB Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.  

Unlike AASB 117, AASB 16 introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees. Lessees will be required to recognise a right-of-use 
asset (representing the right to use the underlying leased asset) and a liability (representing the obligation to make future lease payments) 
for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying assets are of low value.   



Wide Bay Hospital & Health Service
FS-31Annual Report 2016-2017

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 
Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

FS - 31

E6 FUTURE IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)
In effect, the majority of operating leases (as defined by the current AASB 117) will be reported on the Statement of Financial Position 
under AASB 16. As a result, there will be an increase in assets and liabilities for WBHHS. The impact of the reported assets and liabilities 
would be largely in proportion to the scale of WBHHS's leasing activities. 

The right-of-use asset will be initially recognised at cost, consisting of the initial amount of the associated lease liability, plus any lease 
payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentive received, the initial estimate of restoration 
costs and any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee. The right-of-use asset will give rise to depreciation expense. 

The lease liability will be initially recognised at an amount equal to the present value of the lease payments during the lease term that are 
not yet paid. Current operating lease rental payments will no longer be expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. They will be 
apportioned between a reduction in the recognised lease liability and the implicit finance charge (the effective rate of interest) in the lease. 
The finance cost will be recognised as an expense. 

AASB 16 allows a 'cumulative approach' rather than full retrospective application to recognising existing operating leases. If WBHHS 
chooses to apply the 'cumulative approach', it does not need to restate comparative information. Instead, the cumulative effect of applying 
the standard is recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus (or other component of equity, as appropriate) 
at the date of initial application. WBHHS will await further guidance from Queensland Treasury on the transitional accounting method to be 
applied.

WBHHS has not yet quantified the impact on the Statement of Comprehensive Income or the Statement of Financial Position of applying
AASB 16 to its current operating leases, including the extent of additional disclosure required. 

All other Australian accounting standards and interpretations with future commencement dates are either not applicable to the WBHHS’s 
activities, or have no material impact on the HHS. 

E7 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 
There are no matters or circumstances that have arisen since 30 June 2017 that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect WBHHS’s 
operations, the results of those operations, or the HHS’s state of affairs in future financial years. 
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 BUDGETARY REPORTING DISCLOSURE F

F1 BUDGETARY REPORTING DISCLOSURES 
This section discloses WBHHS’s original published budgeted figures for 2016-17 compared to actual results, with explanations of major 
variances, in respect of WBHHS’s Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows.

F2 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
Note F2: Budget to actual comparison - Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Variance 

Original 
Budget 

Actual  
Result Variance 

2017 2017 
$'000Notes $'000 $'000

OPERATING RESULT 
Income from Continuing Operations 
User charges and fees  1 516,090 564,645 48,555 
Grants and other contributions 3,703 4,642 939
Other revenue 4,745 5,028 283
Total Revenue 524,538 574,315 49,777 

Gain on disposals - 1 1
Total Income from Continuing Operations 524,538 574,316 49,778 

Expenses from Continuing Operations 
Employee expenses  2 57,347 60,077 2,730 
Health service employee expenses  2 288,578 315,209 26,631 
Other supplies and services  3 161,849 171,856 10,007 
Depreciation and amortisation 15,859 14,864 (995)
Impairment losses - 605 605
Revaluation decrement 172 - (172)
Other expenses 733 950 217
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 524,538 563,561 39,023 

Operating Results from Continuing Operations - 10,755 10,755 

Other Comprehensive Income 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus - 25,631 25,631 
Other comprehensive income for the year - 25,631 25,631 

Total comprehensive income for the year - 36,386 36,386 

1. The original budget was prepared at a point in time before the 2016-17 Service Level Agreement (SLA) between WBHHS and the 
Department of Health (DoH) was agreed.  The agreed SLA included a further $17.6m increase in general purpose funding above that
provided for in the original budget.  In addition, there have been numerous amendments to the SLA in line with provisions of the SLA 
including $16.9m Commonwealth growth funding (45%) for over performance against activity targets which was offset by a reduction in 
outpatient private practice revenue of $2.7m. Additional funding received during 2016-17 included $2.6m to reduce long waits in Oral 
Health services, $2.1m for additional Enterprise Bargaining funding following execution of agreements state wide, $8.7m of Commonwealth 
Pharmaceuticals Benefit revenue offsetting increased drugs expenditure as a result of Hepatitis C treatments, $4.1m of other minor
amendments for services/programs devolved from DoH. 

2. The original budget was prepared at a point in time before the 2016-17 SLA between WBHHS and the DoH was agreed.  The agreed SLA 
included a further $17.6m for purchase of additional activity.  In addition a further $16.9m was received for over achievement of activity by 
11% during 2016-17.  The additional activity delivered from original budget has contributed to the increase in combined employee
expenses and health service employee.  There has also been an increase in Senior Medical Officers permanently recruited during 2016-17 
of 7.54 FTE which has been partially offset by a reduction in Locums of $5.9m. 

3. The original budget was prepared at a point in time before the 2016-17 SLA between WBHHS and the DoH was agreed.  The agreed SLA 
included a further $17.6m for purchase of additional activity.  In addition a further $16.9m was received for over achievement of activity by 
11% during 2016-17.  The additional activity delivered from original budget has resulted in an increase in costs over 2016 figures for the 
following expenditure items:  outsourced services ($2.2m to reduce Endoscopy long waits and $1.9m for Oral Health Services), drugs ($8m 
for additional activity and high cost Hepatitis C drugs), repairs and maintenance of $2.6m.  Increased expenditure was partially offset by a 
reduction in Medical Locums (refer to Variance Note 2). 
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F3 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

Note F3: Budget to actual comparison - Statement of Financial Position 

Variance 

Original 
Budget 

Actual  
Result Variance 

2017 2017 
$'000Notes $'000 $'000

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents  4 4,419 4,992 573
Trade and other receivables  5 6,992 22,882 15,890 
Inventories 4,202 4,784 582
Other assets 311 292 (19) 
Total Current Assets 15,924 32,950 17,026 

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 6 218,589 236,615 18,026 
Intangibles 82 42 (40) 
Total Non-Current Assets 218,671 236,657 17,986 

Total Assets 234,595 269,607 35,012 

Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables  7 28,253 25,373 (2,880) 
Accrued employees benefits 981 2,022 1,041 
Unearned revenue 8 82 9,184 9,102 
Total Current Liabilities 29,316 36,579 7,263 

Total Liabilities 29,316 36,579 7,263 

Net Assets (205,279) (233,028) 27,749 

Equity 
Contributed equity  9 185,060 195,470 10,410 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  10 (13,826) (3,128) 10,698 
Asset revaluation surplus  11 34,045 40,686 6,641 
Total Equity 205,279 233,028 27,749 

4. Increase in cash position relates to timing differences relating to funding received and expenses paid during the year. 

5. The increase relates primarily to Department of Health funding accrued at 30 June 17 but not yet received, offset by the funding accrued at 
30 June 2016 of $5.6m.  The main accruals at 30 June 2017 relate to;  $11.6m in Commonwealth growth funding relating to significant 
overachievement of activity targets by 10%; $1m for SNAP growth funding and $1.3m for undischarged patients at 30 June at ABF 
facilities. The increase also relates an incorrect opening balance for the 2016-17 budget of $7.2m. 

6. Increase is primarily attributable to higher than forecast revaluation adjustments to buildings.  Due to a change in valuation methodology 
during the year a desktop valuation was undertaken on all previously inspected buildings on top of the comprehensive valuations
undertaken at rural sites.  The actual valuation increment for buildings was $25.8m compared to a budgeted forecast of $9m. 

7. Decrease relates to an incorrect opening balance for 2016-17 budget of $3m.  Based on an estimate prior to end of year 2015-16. 

8. Increase relates to $5m in advance funding received for 2017-18, along with $2.2m to be returned to the Department of Health in relation to 
outsourcing endoscopy not spent, and $1.5m in funding received in 2016-17 for a number of programs which will be spent in 2017-18. 

9. Relates primarily to a combination of an incorrect opening balance for 2016-17 of $4.4m and additional equity injection over budget of 
$5.4m due primarily to the expansion of the Hervey Bay Emergency Department project. 

10. Reflects the surplus position of $10.7m achieved during the year compared to a balanced position originally budgeted for. 

11. Reflects an increase in revaluation adjustments over original budget of $15.3m, offset by an incorrect opening balance for the 2016-17 
budget of $8.7m.  Refer variance note 6 for comment on revaluations. 
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F4 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Note F4: Budget to actual comparison - Statement of Cash Flows 

Variance 

Original 
Budget 

Actual  
Result Variance 

2017 2017 
$'000Notes $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities 
Inflows
User charges and fees 12 515,880 550,576 34,696 
Grants and other contributions 3,703 4,790 1,087 
GST input tax credits from ATO 13,991 9,395 (4,596) 
GST collected from customers - 501 501
Other receipts 4,745 4,970 225

Outflows 
Employee expenses 13 (57,347) (59,731) (2,384) 
Health service employee expenses 13 (288,578) (314,389) (25,811) 
Supplies and services 14 (160,758)  (173,333) (12,575) 
GST paid to suppliers (14,000) (9,769) 4,231 
GST remitted to ATO - (529) (529) 
Other payments (733) (694) 39
Net cash from/(used by) operating activities 16,903 11,787 (5,116) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Inflows
Sales of property, plant and equipment - 22 22

Outflows 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  15 (3,603) (11,062) (7,459) 
Net cash from/(used by) investing activities (3,603) (11,040) (7,437) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Inflows
Equity injections 3,603 9,085 5,482 

Outflows 
Equity withdrawals  16 (15,859) - 15,859 
Net cash from/(used by) financing activities (12,256) 9,085 21,341 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,044 9,832 8,788 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 3,375 (4,840) (8,215) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 4,419 4,992 573

12. Increase reflects service agreement changes (refer Note 1) $48.5m offset by treatment of depreciation funding from cash to non cash 
$14.8m  (offset in Equity withdrawals) and increase in receivables during 2016-17 of $10.5m due to higher year end accruals, along with a 
$5 million cash advance of 2017-18 funding.  

13. Consistent with movements in Statement of Comprehensive Income (note 2). 

14. Consistent with movements in Statement of Comprehensive Income (note 3) offset by movement in payables (note 7). 

15. Increase relates primarily to capital projects managed by the Department not included in the original budget.  The Hervey Bay ED upgrade 
accounts for $5m spent during the year. Other major capital expenditure includes Bundaberg Hospital upgrade $312k; Hervey Bay backup 
water supply $258k; Hervey Bay mental health premises $153k; Fluoroscopy room upgrade in Bundaberg $145k. 

16. Reflects change in treatment of depreciation from cash withdrawal to non-cash withdrawal offsetting depreciation funding (non-cash) under 
user charges and fees. 
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Summary of requirement Basis for requirement
Annual report 

reference

Letter of compliance A letter of compliance from the accountable 
officer or statutory body to the relevant 
Minister/s

ARRs – section 7 5

Accessibility Table of contents

Glossary

ARRs – section 9.1 2

A-3

Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 2

Interpreter service statement Queensland Government 
Language Services Policy

ARRs – section 9.3

2

Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968

ARRs – section 9.4

2

Information Licensing QGEA – Information 
Licensing

ARRs – section 9.5

2

General information Introductory Information ARRs – section 10.1 12

Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 10.2 14

Operating environment ARRs – section 10.3 12, 14-15

Non-financial performance Government’s objectives for the community ARRs – section 11.1 16

Other whole-of-government plans / specific 
initiatives

ARRs – section 11.2 16

Agency objectives and performance 
indicators

ARRs – section 11.3 16-18

Agency service areas and service 
standards 

ARRs – section 11.4 19-20

Financial performance Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 12.1 10-11

Governance – management and 
structure

Organisational structure ARRs – section 13.1 29

Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 38-42

Government bodies  
(statutory bodies and other entities)

ARRs – section 13.3 N/A

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 
1994

ARRs – section 13.4

22, 42-43

Queensland public service values ARRs – section 13.5 13

Appendix 1: 
Annual Report 
compliance 
checklistAppendix 1: Annual Report compliance checklist
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Summary of requirement Basis for requirement
Annual report 

reference

Governance – risk management 
and accountability

Risk management ARRs – section 14.1 42

Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 28

Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 43

External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 43

Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 14.5 44

Governance – human resources Workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 15.1 22-27

Early retirement, redundancy and 
retrenchment

Directive No.11/12 Early 
Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment

Directive No.16/16 Early 
Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment (from 20 
May 2016)

ARRs – section 15.2

23

Open Data Statement advising publication of 
information

ARRs – section 16 2

Consultancies ARRs – section 33.1 2

Overseas travel ARRs – section 33.2 2

Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 33.3 2

Financial statements Certification of financial statements FAA – section 62

FPMS – sections 42, 43 
and 50

ARRs – section 17.1

FS-35

Independent Auditors Report FAA – section 62

FPMS – section 50

ARRs – section 17.2

FS-36

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009 
FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 
ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies
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Appendix 2: Glossary of terms

Term Meaning 

Accessible Accessible healthcare is characterised by the ability of people to obtain appropriate 
healthcare at the right place and right time, irrespective of income, cultural background 
or geography. 

Accreditation Accreditation is independent recognition that an organisation, service, program or 
activity meets the requirements of defined criteria or standards.

Australian Council on Healthcare 
Standards (ACHS)

The ACHS is an authorised accreditation agency with the Australian Commission on 
Safety and Quality in Health Care. The ACHS is authorised to accredit healthcare 
organisations to the National Safety and Quality Health Services Standards 
(NSQHSS).

Activity-Based Funding (ABF) A management tool with the potential to enhance public accountability and drive 
technical efficiency in the delivery of health services by: 

• capturing consistent and detailed information on hospital sector activity and 
accurately measuring the costs of delivery 

• creating an explicit relationship between funds allocated and services provided 

• strengthening management’s focus on outputs, outcomes and quality 

• encouraging clinicians and managers to identify variations in costs and practices 
so they can be managed at a local level in the context of improving efficiency and 
effectiveness 

• providing mechanisms to reward good practice and support quality initiatives. 

Acute Having a short and relatively severe course. 

Acute Care Care in which the clinical intent or treatment goal is to: 

• manage labour (obstetric) 

• cure illness or provide definitive treatment of injury 

• perform surgery 

• relieve symptoms of illness or injury (excluding palliative care) 

• reduce severity of an illness or injury 

• protect against exacerbation and/or complication of an illness and/or injury that 
could threaten life or normal function 

• perform diagnostic or therapeutic procedures. 

Acute Hospital Is generally a recognised hospital that provides acute care and excludes dental and 
psychiatric hospitals. 

Admission The process whereby a hospital accepts responsibility for a patient’s care and/
or treatment. It follows a clinical decision, based on specified criteria, that a patient 
requires same-day or overnight care or treatment, which can occur in hospital and/or in 
the patient’s home (for hospital-in-the-home patients). 

Admitted Patient A patient who undergoes a hospital’s formal admission process as an overnight-stay 
patient or a same-day patient.  Also may be referred to as ‘inpatient’.

Allied Health Staff  
(Health Practitioners) 

Professional staff who meet mandatory qualifications and regulatory requirements in 
the following areas: audiology; clinical measurement sciences; dietetics and nutrition; 
exercise physiology; medical imaging; nuclear medicine technology; occupational 
therapy; orthoptics; pharmacy; physiotherapy; podiatry; prosthetics and orthotics; 
psychology; radiation therapy; sonography; speech pathology and social work. 
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Term Meaning 

Ambulatory Care provided to patients who are not admitted to the hospital, such as patients of 
emergency departments, outpatient clinics and community based (non-hospital) 
healthcare services. 

Bed Days The number of full or partial days of stay for patients who were admitted for an episode 
of care and who underwent separation during the reporting period. 

BreastScreen A breastscreen is an x-ray of the breast that can detect small changes in breast tissue 
before they can be felt by a woman or her doctor. A breastscreen is for women who do 
not have any signs or symptoms of breast cancer. It is usually done every two years.

Burden of Disease A measure of population health that aims to quantify the gap between the ideal of living 
to old age in good health, and the current situation where healthy life is shortened by 
illness, injury, disability and premature death. 

Cardiology Management, assessment and treatment of cardiac (heart related) conditions. Includes 
monitoring of long-term patients with cardiac conditions, maintenance of pacemakers 
and investigative treatments. 

Cardiac Angiography A coronary angiogram is a special X-ray test. A coronary angiogram is the most 
accurate diagnostic test for a range of heart problems, including coronary heart 
disease.

Cataract A cataract is a clouding of the normally clear lens of the eye. Cataracts are treated by 
removing the cloudy lens of the eye with surgery.

Chemotherapy Chemotherapy is the use of drugs to destroy cancer cells. Chemotherapy medications 
are also known as cytotoxic or anti-cancer medications.

Chronic Disease Chronic disease: Diseases which have one or more of the following characteristics: (1) 
is permanent, leaves residual disability; (2) is caused by non-reversible pathological 
alteration; (3) requires special training of the individual for rehabilitation, and/or may be 
expected to require a long period of supervision, observation or care. 

Clinical Governance A framework by which health organisations are accountable for continuously improving 
the quality of their services and safeguarding high standards of care by creating an 
environment in which excellence in clinical care will flourish. 

Clinical Practice Professional activity undertaken by health professionals to investigate patient 
symptoms and prevent and/or manage illness, together with associated professional 
activities for patient care. 

Clinical Services Capability Framework 
(CSCF)

CSCF has been designed to guide a co-ordinated and integrated approach to health 
service planning and delivery in Queensland.  It applies to both public and licensed 
private health facilities and enhances the provision of safe, quality services by 
providing service planners and service providers with a standard set of minimum 
capability criteria. 

Clinical Workforce Staff who are or who support health professionals working in clinical practice, have 
healthcare specific knowledge/experience, and provide clinical services to health 
consumers, either directly and/or indirectly, through services that have a direct impact 
on clinical outcomes. 

Community Health Community health provides a range of services to people closer to their home. Some 
of these services include children's therapy services, pregnancy and postnatal care, 
rehabilitation and intervention services, and programs that focus on the long-term 
management of chronic disease. 

Community Reference Groups Community Reference Groups (CRGs) provide communities with a structured network 
for input and feedback around planning, design, delivery and evaluation of healthcare 
within the Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service (WBHHS). 

Computerised Tomography (CT) CT is a diagnostic imaging technique which uses x-rays that are rotated around a 
patient to demonstrate the anatomy and structure of organs and tissues.
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Term Meaning 

Coronary Care Unit A Coronary Care Unit is a critical care unit that provides for early assessment and 
intervention for patients experiencing a suspected or actual acute cardiac event.

Demand Demand is the health service activity that a catchment population can generate.  
Where the current and projected incidence and prevalence of diseases and conditions 
are known (using evidence from epidemiological studies), this data can be used to 
estimate demand in the catchment population.  However, in most institutional planning, 
demand is measured by analysing expressed need or the amount of healthcare that 
the catchment population actually utilises. Because utilisation is influenced by other 
factors (such as existing service availability, access, cost and so-called ‘supplier-
induced demand’), the resultant estimates of demand inherently incorporate elements 
of supply. 

Department of Health  The Department of Health is responsible for the overall management of the public 
sector health system, and works in partnership with Hospital and Health Services to 
ensure the public health system delivers high-quality hospital and other health services. 

Emergency Department (ED) Waiting Time Time elapsed for each patient from presentation to the emergency department to start 
of services by the treating clinician. It is calculated by deducting the date and time the 
patient presents from the date and time of the service event. 

Endoscopy Internal examination of either the upper or lower gastrointestinal tract. 

Evaluation Quality Improvement Program 
(EQuIP)

EQuIPNational is a four-year accreditation program for health services. EQuIPNational 
ensures organisations meet the necessary requirements to meet the NSQHS 
Standards, and offers a further five standards that focus on the performance of 
non-clinical systems as part of a comprehensive organisation-wide assessment - 
the essential areas of service delivery, provision of care, workforce management, 
information management and corporate governance and safety.

Fluoroscopy Fluoroscopy is a type of medical imaging that shows a continuous X-ray image on a 
monitor. Images are used in real time and show movement.

Full-time equivalent (FTE) Refers to full-time equivalent staff currently working in a position. 

Gastroenterology Gastroenterology is the branch of medicine focused on the digestive system and its 
disorders.

Governance Governance is aimed at achieving organisational goals and objectives, and can be 
described as the set of responsibilities and practices, policies and procedures used 
to provide strategic direction, ensure objectives are achieved, manage risks, and use 
resources responsibly and with accountability. 

Gynaecology The branch of medical science that studies the diseases of women, especially of the 
reproductive organs.

Goods and Services Tax (GST) Goods and services tax (GST) is a broad-based tax of 10% on most goods, services 
and other items sold or consumed in Australia.

Health outcome Change in the health of an individual, group of people or population attributable to an 
intervention or series of interventions. 

Hospital Healthcare facility established under Commonwealth, state or territory legislation as a 
hospital or a free-standing day-procedure unit and authorised to provide treatment and/
or care to patients. 

Hospital and Health Board The Hospital and Health Boards are made up of a mix of members with expert skills 
and knowledge relevant to managing a complex healthcare organisation. 

Hospital and Health Service Hospital and Health Service (HHS) is a separate legal entity established by 
Queensland Government to deliver public hospital services. 
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Hospital-in-the-home Provision of care to hospital-admitted patients in their place of residence, as a 
substitute for hospital accommodation. 

Independent Patient Rights Advisors 
(IPRA)

An Independent Patient Rights Adviser advises patients and their nominated support 
persons, family, carers and other support persons of their rights under the Mental 
Health Act 2016.

Indigenous Health Worker An Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander person who works to improve health 
outcomes for Indigenous Australians. 

Inpatient A patient who is admitted to a hospital or health service for treatment that requires at 
least one overnight stay. 

Internal Audit Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an 
organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to 
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance 
processes. 

Interns A medical practitioner in the first postgraduate year, learning medical practice under 
supervision. 

Key Performance Indicators (KPI) Key performance indicators are metrics used to help a business define and measure 
progress towards achieving its objectives or critical success factors. 

Life expectancy An indication of how long a person can expect to live.  Technically it is the number of 
years of life remaining to a person at a particular age if death rates do not change. 

Long wait A ‘long wait’ elective surgery patient is one who has waited longer than the clinically 
recommended time for their surgery, according to the clinical urgency category 
assigned. That is, more than 30 days for an urgent (category 1) operation, more than 
90 days for a semi-urgent (category 2) operation and more than 365 days for a routine 
(category 3) operation. 

Medical Practitioner A person who is registered with the Medical Board of Australia to practice medicine in 
Australia, including general and specialist practitioners. 

Minimum Obligatory Human Resource 
Information (MOHRI) 

MOHRI is a whole of Government (WoG) methodology for producing an Occupied 
Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) and headcount value sourced from the Queensland Health 
payroll system data for reporting and monitoring. 

Multipurpose Health Service (MPHS) Provide a flexible and integrated approach to health and aged care service delivery 
for small rural communities. They are funded through pooling of funds from Hospital 
and Health Services (HHS) and the Australian Government Department of Health and 
Ageing. 

National Emergency Access Target (NEAT) NEAT is a National Performance Benchmark for public hospitals. NEAT commenced 
in January 2012, with annual increment targets over the next four years for all patients 
presenting to a public hospital Emergency Department (ED) to either physically leave 
the ED for admission to hospital, be transferred to another hospital for treatment, or be 
discharged, within four hours. 

National Elective Surgery Target (NEST) NEST is a National Performance Benchmark for public hospitals. The objectives of 
NEST are to improve patient care by increasing the percentage of elective surgery 
patients seen within the clinically recommended time, and reducing the number of 
patients who have waited longer than the clinically recommended time. 

National Safety and Quality Health Service 
Standards (NSQHSS)

The National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards (NSQHSS) were developed 
by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care “the Commission” 
in consultation and collaboration with jurisdictions, technical experts and a wide range 
of other organisations and individuals, including health professionals and patients. The 
primary aims of the NSQHSS are to protect the public from harm and to improve the 
quality of care provided by health service organisations. 
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National Standards for Mental Health 
Services (NSMHS)

The National Standards for Mental Health Services (NSMHS) were first introduced in 
1996 to assist in the development and implementation of appropriate practices and 
guide continuous quality improvement in mental health services. Demonstration of the 
delivery of services against these standards ensures that consumers, carers and the 
community can be confident of what to expect from mental health services.

Non-admitted patient A patient who does not undergo a hospital’s formal admission process. 

Non-admitted patient services An examination, consultation, treatment or other service provided to a non-admitted 
patient in a functional unit of a health service facility.  

Nurse Sensitive Indicators (NSI) The statewide Nurse Sensitive Indicator (NSI) reporting tool delivers a series of useful 
and relevant reports to help adult health facilities to analyse, trend, monitor, compare 
and/or benchmark the care delivered by nurses. These reports can be used to develop 
quality improvement initiatives which support the delivery of patient safety and care. 

Oncology The study and treatment of cancer and tumours.

Opthalmology Consultation, assessment, review, treatment and management of conditions relating to 
eye disorders and vision, and services associated with surgery to the eye. 

Orthopaedics Consultation, diagnosis, treatment and follow-up of patients suffering diseases and 
disorders of the musculoskeletal system and connective tissue. 

Outpatient Non-admitted health service provided or accessed by an individual at a hospital or 
health service facility. 

Outpatient Clinic Provides examination, consultation, treatment or other service to non-admitted 
non-emergency patients in a specialty unit or under an organisational arrangement 
administered by a hospital. 

Own Source Revenue (OSR) Own Source Revenue (OSR) is revenue generated by the agency, generally through 
the sale of goods and services. Examples of OSR include revenue generated through 
privately insured inpatients, private outpatients, and Medicare ineligible patients 
(overseas visitors). 

Palliative Care Palliative care is an approach that improves quality of life of patients and their families 
facing the problems associated with life-threatening illness, through the prevention of 
suffering by means of early identification and assessment and treatment of pain and 
other problems, physical, psychological and spiritual. 

Patient Off Stretcher Time (POST) Off-stretcher time is defined as the time interval between when the ambulance is 
parked at the hospital emergency department and the time the patients has been 
transferred off stretcher to the care of the Hospital and Health Service clinical staff after 
handover. 

Patient Travel Subsidy Scheme (PTSS) The Patient Travel Subsidy Scheme (PTSS) provides assistance to patients, and in 
some cases their carers, to enable them to access specialist medical services that are 
not available locally. 

Performance Indicator A measure that provides an ‘indication’ of progress towards achieving the 
organisation’s objectives. Usually has targets that define the level of performance 
expected against the performance indicator. 

PRAISE  
(Positive Responsive Actions in Safety 
Excellence)

A WBHHS initiative supporting excellence in occupational health and safety through 
provision of resources, tools, training and support for staff to improve workplace safety. 

Primary Health Care Primary health care services include health promotion and disease prevention, acute 
episodic care not requiring hospitalisation, continuing care of chronic diseases, 
education and advocacy. 



Wide Bay Hospital & Health Service
A-8 Annual Report 2016-2017

Appendices

Term Meaning 

Primary Health Network (PHN) Primary Health Networks (PHNs) replaced Medicare Locals from July 1 2015. PHNs 
were established with the key objectives of:

• increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of medical services for patients, 
particularly those at risk of poor health outcomes; and

• improving coordination of care to ensure patients receive the right care in the right 
place at the right time.

PHNs work directly with general practitioners, other primary health care providers, 
secondary care providers and hospitals to ensure improved outcomes for patients. 

Private hospital A private hospital or free-standing day hospital, and either a hospital owned by a for-
profit company or a non-profit organisation and privately funded through payment for 
medical services by patients or insurers.  Patients admitted to private hospitals are 
treated by a doctor of their choice. 

Public health Public health units focus on protecting health, preventing disease, illness and injury, 
promoting health and wellbeing at a population or whole of community level.

Public hospital Public hospitals offer free diagnostic services, treatment, care and accommodation to 
eligible patients. 

Public patient A public patient is one who elects to be treated as a public patient, so cannot choose 
the doctor who treats them, or is receiving treatment in a private hospital under a 
contract arrangement with a public hospital or health authority.

Queensland Weighted Activity Unit 
(QWAU) 

QWAU is a standardised unit to measure healthcare services (activities) within the 
Queensland Activity-Based Funding (ABF) model. 

Radiation Oncology Radiation oncology is a medical specialty that involves the controlled use of radiation 
to treat cancer either for cure, or to reduce pain and other symptoms caused by cancer. 
Radiation therapy (also called radiotherapy) is the term used to describe the actual 
treatment delivered by the radiation oncology team.

Registered Nurse (RN) An individual registered under national law to practice in the nursing profession as a 
nurse, other than as a student. 

Renal Dialysis Renal dialysis is a medical process of filtering the blood with a machine outside of the 
body. 

Risk Management A process of systematically identifying hazards, assessing and controlling risks, and 
monitoring and reviewing activities to make sure that risks are effectively managed. 

Senior Medical Officer A medical officer registered with the Medical Board of Australia under the provisions of 
the Health Practitioners National Law Act 2009. 

Separation Term used to refer to an episode of care for an admitted patient, which can be a total 
hospital stay (from admission to discharge, transfer or death), or a portion of a hospital 
stay beginning or ending in a change of type of care (for example, from acute to 
rehabilitation).  A separation also includes the process by which an admitted patient 
completes an episode of care either by being discharged, dying, transferring to another 
hospital or changing type of care. 

Statutory bodies / authorities A non-departmental government body, established under an Act of Parliament. 
Statutory bodies can include corporations, regulatory authorities and advisory 
committees / councils. 

Step Up / Step Down A Step Up / Step Down Unit is a service to offer short-term residential treatment in 
purpose-built facilities delivered by mental health specialists in partnership with non-
government organisations. 

Stroke Thrombolysis Treatment to dissolve blood clots in blood vessels, improve blood flow, and prevent 
damage to tissues and organs. 
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Sub-acute Sub-acute care focuses on continuation of care and optimisation of health and 
functionality. 

Sustainable A health system that provides infrastructure, such as workforce, facilities and 
equipment, and is innovative and responsive to emerging needs, for example, research 
and monitoring within available resources. 

Tackling Regional Adversity through 
Integrated Care (TRAIC)

A program targeted at suicide prevention, building resilience and fostering recovery 
among people and communities affected by adversity associated with drought, disaster 
and other crises.

Telehealth Delivery of health-related services and information via telecommunication technologies, 
including: 

• live, audio and/or video interactive links for clinical consultations and educational 
purposes 

• store-and-forward Telehealth, including digital images, video, audio and clinical 
(stored) on a client computer, then transmitted securely (forwarded) to a clinic at 
another location where they are studied by relevant specialists 

• Telehealth services and equipment to monitor people’s health in their home. 

Tertiary hospitals Tertiary Hospitals provide care which requires highly specialised equipment and 
expertise. 

TrainStation The WBHHS online learning management system.

Transition Care Program Transition Care supports older people who have been discharged from hospital or a 
sub-acute facility to undertake a time-limited, low-intensive therapy program to help 
improve general function and overall independence and to make an informed choices. 

Triage Category Urgency of a patient’s need for medical and nursing care. 

Urology Consultation, diagnosis, treatment and follow-up of patients suffering from diseases 
and disorders of the kidney and urinary tract. 

Ultrasound Ultrasound imaging allows an inside view of soft tissues and body cavities without the 
use of invasive techniques. Ultrasound waves can be bounced off tissues by using 
special devices. The echoes are then converted into a picture called a sonogram.

Visiting Medical Officer (VMO) A medical practitioner who is employed as an independent contractor or an employee 
to provide services on a part time, sessional basis. 

Weighted Activity Unit (WAU) A single standard unit used to measure all activity consistently. 

Weighted Occasions Of Service (WOOS) A WOOS is a unit of measure of oral health services activity based on the oral health 
care delivered to a client as indicated by treatment items.
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